การแสดงออกของโปรตีนกาเลกตินสามในกล้ามเนื้อหัวใจและการตรวจวัดระดับพลาสมากาเลกติน สามในสุนัขที่เป็นโรคลิ้นหัวใจไมทรัลเสื่อม



บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาอายุรศาสตร์สัตวแพทย์ ภาควิชาอายุรศาสตร์ คณะสัตวแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2557 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย EXPRESSION OF GALECTIN-3 IN CARDIAC MUSCLES AND DETERMINATION LEVEL OF PLASMA GALECTIN-3 IN DOGS WITH DEGENERATIVE MITRAL VALVE DISEASE

Miss Siriwan Sakarin

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Veterinary Medicine Department of Veterinary Medicine Faculty of Veterinary Science Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2014 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	EXPRESSION OF GALECTIN-3 IN CARDIAC MUSCLES
	AND DETERMINATION LEVEL OF PLASMA GALECTIN-3
	IN DOGS WITH DEGENERATIVE MITRAL VALVE
	DISEASE
Ву	Miss Siriwan Sakarin
Field of Study	Veterinary Medicine
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor Dr. Sirilak Surachetpong, D.V.M., ,
	Ph.D.
Thesis Co-Advisor	Associate Professor Dr. Anudep Rungsipipat, D.V.M.,
	Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

......Dean of the Faculty of Veterinary Science

(Professor Dr. Roongroje Thanawongnuwech, D.V.M., Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

งกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Chairman
(Associate Professor Dr. Somsak Pakpinyo, D.V.M.,Ph.D.)
(Assistant Professor Dr. Sirilak Surachetpong, D.V.M., , Ph.D.)
(Associate Professor Dr. Anudep Rungsipipat, D.V.M., Ph.D.)
Examiner
(Associate Professor Achara Tawatsin, B.Sc., M.Sc.)
Examiner
(Associate Professor Dr. Rosama Pusoonthornthum, D.V.M., Ph.D.)
External Examiner
(Assistant Professor Dr. Walasinee Moonarmart, D.V.M., Ph.D.)

ศิริวรรณ สาครินทร์ : การแสดงออกของโปรตีนกาเลกตินสามในกล้ามเนื้อหัวใจและการตรวจวัด ระดับพลาสมากาเลกตินสามในสุนัขที่เป็นโรคลิ้นหัวใจไมทรัลเสื่อม (EXPRESSION OF GALECTIN-3 IN CARDIAC MUSCLES AND DETERMINATION LEVEL OF PLASMA GALECTIN-3 IN DOGS WITH DEGENERATIVE MITRAL VALVE DISEASE) อ.ที่ปรึกษา วิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: ผศ. สพ.ญ. ดร. สิริลักษณ์ สุรเซษฐพงษ์, อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม: รศ. น.สพ. ดร. อนุเทพ รังสีพิพัฒน์, 81 หน้า.

้โรคลิ้นหัวใจไมทรัลเสื่อมเป็นโรคหัวใจที่เกิดขึ้นภายหลังกำเนิดสามารถพบได้บ่อยในสุนัขพันธุ์เล็ก ที่มีอายุมาก พยาธิกำเนิดของโรคนี้มีความคล้ายคลึงกับโรคลิ้นหัวใจโป่งในมนุษย์ โรคลิ้นหัวใจโป่งและ โรคหัวใจอื่นๆ ในมนุษย์สามารถทำให้เกิดภาวะไฟโบรซิสที่กล้ามเนื้อหัวใจ สุนัขที่ป่วยเป็นโรคลิ้นหัวใจไมทรัล เสื่อมสามารถพบภาวะไฟโบรซิสที่กล้ามเนื้อหัวใจได้เช่นเดียวกับมนุษย์ กาเลกตินสามมีการนำมาใช้เป็น ้ตัวชี้วัดภาวะไฟโบรซิสที่กล้ามเนื้อหัวใจในมนุษย์ โดยพบว่าการแสดงออกของกาเลกตินสามเพิ่มขึ้นทั้งใน กล้ามเนื้อหัวใจและในกระแสเลือดของผู้ป่วยที่มีภาวะหัวใจล้มเหลว บทบาทของกาเลกตินสามในการเป็น ตัวชี้วัดภาวะไฟโบรซิสที่กล้ามเนื้อหัวใจในสุนัขที่ป่วยเป็นโรคลิ้นหัวใจไมทรัลเสื่อมยังไม่มีการศึกษา ดังนั้น การศึกษามีวัตถุประสงค์เพื่อทำการประเมินการแสดงออกของกาเลกตินสามในกล้ามเนื้อหัวใจและเพื่อ ตรวจวัดระดับพลาสมากาเลกตินสามในสุนัขที่ป่วยเป็นโรคลิ้นหัวใจไมทรัลเสื่อม การศึกษาประกอบด้วย กล้ามเนื้อหัวใจสุนัขที่ป่วยเป็นโรคลิ้นหัวใจไมทรัลเสื่อม 12 ตัว และสุนัขปกติ 10 ตัว ที่เข้ารับการผ่าซาก โดยสุนัขทั้งหมดเป็นสุนัขพันธุ์เล็ก น้ำหนักน้อยกว่า 15 กิโลกรัม และอายุมากกว่า 6 ปี เพื่อทำการประเมิน ภาวะไฟโบรซิสที่กล้ามเนื้อหัวใจและการแสดงออกของกาเลกตินสามโดยการย้อมสีพิเศษมาสซองไตรโครม และย้อมสีอิมมูโนฮิสโตเคมีของกาเลกตินสามตามลำดับ ระดับของพลาสมากาเลกตินสามทำการวัดจากสุนัข ้ปกติ 19 ตัว และสุนัขที่ป่วยเป็นโรคหัวใจไมทรัลเสื่อม 27 ตัว โดยสุนัขทั้งหมดมีอายุ ขนาดและพันธุ์ที่ ใกล้เคียงกัน ด้วยชุดทดสอบอีไลซ่า อายุและน้ำหนักไม่มีความสัมพันธ์กับภาวะไฟโบรซิสที่กล้ามเนื้อหัวใจ และการแสดงออกของกาเลกตินสาม สุนัขที่ป่วยเป็นโรคลิ้นหัวใจไมทรัลเสื่อมมีภาวะไฟโบรซิสที่กล้ามเนื้อ หัวใจ (p < 0.01) และการแสดงออกของกาเลกตินสาม (p < 0.01) มากกว่าสุนัขปกติโดยเฉพาะบริเวณ ้ส่วน sub-endocardium ระดับพลาสมากาเลกตินสามมีค่าสูงในสุนัขที่ป่วยเป็นโรคลิ้นหัวใจไมทรัลเสื่อม ้มากกว่าสุนัขปกติอย่างมีนัยสำคัญ อายุ น้ำหนัก และค่าต่างๆ จากการอัลตราซาวน์หัวใจไม่มีความสัมพันธ์ กับระดับพลาสมากาเลกตินสาม โดยสรุปกาเลกตินสามอาจเป็นตัวเลือกหนึ่งที่ใช้เป็นตัวชี้วัดภาวะไฟโบรซิสที่ กล้ามเนื้อหัวใจในสุนัขที่ป่วยเป็นโรคลิ้นหัวใจไมทรัลเสื่อม

ภาควิชา	อายุรศาสตร์	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
สาขาวิชา	อายุรศาสตร์สัตวแพทย์	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
ปีการศึกษา	2557	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม

5575320031 : MAJOR VETERINARY MEDICINE

KEYWORDS: CARDIAC FIBROSIS / CONGESTIVE HEART FAILURE / DEGENERATIVE MITRAL VALVE DISEASE / GALECTIN-3

SIRIWAN SAKARIN: EXPRESSION OF GALECTIN-3 IN CARDIAC MUSCLES AND DETERMINATION LEVEL OF PLASMA GALECTIN-3 IN DOGS WITH DEGENERATIVE MITRAL VALVE DISEASE. ADVISOR: ASST. PROF. DR. SIRILAK SURACHETPONG, D.V.M., Ph.D., CO-ADVISOR: ASSOC. PROF. DR. ANUDEP RUNGSIPIPAT, D.V.M., Ph.D., 81 pp.

Degenerative mitral valve disease (DMVD) is a common acquired cardiac disease in older small breed dogs. The pathophysiology of this disease is similar to mitral valve prolapse (MVP) in humans. MVP and other cardiovascular diseases in human can cause cardiac fibrosis. DMVD dogs also have cardiac fibrosis like human. Gal-3, has been used as a cardiac fibrosis marker in humans. Gal-3 is up-regulated in cardiac muscles and blood circulation of CHF patients. A role of Gal-3 as a cardiac fibrosis marker in dogs with naturally occurring DMVD has not been studied. The aims of this study were to determine expression of Gal-3 in cardiac muscles and measure level of plasma Gal-3 in DMVD dogs. Twelve DMVD and ten normal cardiac muscles from small breed less than 15 kilograms and older than 6 years old necropsy dogs were collected to determine cardiac fibrosis and Gal-3 expression by Masson trichrome and Gal-3 immunohistochemistry staining, respectively. Plasma Gal-3 concentration was measured from 19 normal and 27 aged, sized and breed matched DMVD dogs by ELISA test kits. Age and weight were not correlated with cardiac fibrosis and Gal-3 expression. DMVD dogs had more cardiac fibrosis (p < 0.01) and overexpressed of Gal-3 (p < 0.01) than normal dogs particularly in sub-endocardium. Plasma Gal-3 concentration was significantly higher in DMVD than normal dogs (p < 0.01). Age, weight and echocardiographic indices showed no correlation with plasma Gal-3 concentration. In conclusion, Gal-3 might be a potential candidate of cardiac fibrosis markers in dogs with DMVD.

Department: Veterinary Medicine Field of Study: Veterinary Medicine Academic Year: 2014

Student's Signature	
Advisor's Signature	
Co-Advisor's Signature	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I am much honored to be supported by a grant from Chulalongkorn University Graduate Commemorate the 72nd Anniversary of His Majesty King Bhumibol Adulyadej and the 90th Anniversary of Chulalongkorn University fund (Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund).

I would like to sincerely thank my advisor, Assistant Professor Dr. Sirilak Surachetpong and my co-advisor Associate Professor Dr. Anudep Rungsipipat for their kindness instruction, advice, guidance, assistance and support during the time of performing this thesis. I would like to thank Associate Professor Dr. Somsak Pakpinyo, Associate Professor Achara Tawatsin, Associate Professor Dr. Rosama Pusoonthornthum and Assistant Professor Dr. Walasinee Moonarmart as members of thesis committee for their valuable comments and suggestions on this thesis.

I would like to thank Assistant Professor Dr. Sayamon Srisuwattanasagul for her guidance on using Image-ProPlus software. Miss Katriya Chankow for her kindness helps in sample collection. Mr. Sittichoke Lachroj for his helps in immunohistochemistry and special staining technique suggestions. I would like to express my appreciation to all my teachers and staffs in Department of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Veterinary Pathology and Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University, my student colleagues and dogs' owners from Small Animal Hospital, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University for their support, encouragement, extensive help and participation in this thesis.

Lastly, I would like to express thanks to my lovely family and friends for their kindness support and cheerfulness throughout this study.

CONTENTS

THAI ABSTRACTiv
ENGLISH ABSTRACTv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi
CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLESxi
LIST OF FIGURES
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION
Objectives of Study
Hypothesis
Keywords
Advantages of Study
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEWS
Degenerative mitral valve disease
Cardiac fibrosis9
Detection of cardiac fibrosis11
Invasive techniques11
Non-invasive techniques11
Galectin-312
Gal-3 in cardiovascular disease14
Expression of Gal-3 in cardiac muscles15
Expression of Gal-3 in blood circulation16
CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS

Page

viii

Part I: Histology	
Tissue samples	
Tissue preparation	19
Cardiac fibrosis evaluation by Masson trichrome staining	21
Galectin-3 expression by immunohistochemistry	21
Part II: Determination of plasma Gal-3	23
Animals	23
Clinical Procedures	24
Sample collection and preparation	27
Measurement of Gal-3 concentration	28
Statistical analysis	29
Expression of Gal-3 in cardiac muscle	29
Determination of plasma Gal-3	29
CHAPTER IV RESULTS	
Part I: Histopathology	
Signalment	
Cardiac fibrosis evaluation by Masson trichrome staining	
Galectin-3 expression by immunohistochemistry	
Part II: Determination of plasma Gal-3	
Signalment	
History taking	
Physical examination	
Complete blood count and blood chemistry profiles	

Page

ix

Thoracic radiography	. 44
Echocardiography	. 44
Plasma Gal-3 concentration	. 46
CHAPTER V DISCUSSION	. 50
Part I: Histopathology	. 50
Signalment	. 50
Cardiac fibrosis	. 50
Gal-3 expression in cardiac muscles	. 51
Part II: Determination of plasma Gal-3	. 52
Signalment	. 52
History taking	. 53
Physical examination	. 54
Complete blood count and blood chemistry profiles	. 54
Thoracic radiography	. 55
Echocardiography	. 55
Plasma Gal-3 concentration	. 56
REFERENCES	. 59
APPENDICES	. 68
Appendix A: Signalment in the normal dog specimens	. 69
Appendix B: Signalment in the DMVD dog specimens	. 69
Appendix C: Percentage of Fibrosis area and Gal-3 expression in the normal dog specimens	70
Appendix D: Percentage of Fibrosis area and Gal-3 expression in the DMVD dog specimens	71

	Page
Appendix E: Signalment and plasma Gal-3 concentration in the normal dogs	. 72
Appendix F: Signalment and plasma Gal-3 concentration in the DMVD dogs	.73

Appendix G: Echocardiographic indices in the normal dogs	74
Appendix H: Echocardiographic indices in the DMVD dogs	76
Appendix I: Subgroup analysis of plasma Gal-3 concentration among stage of DMVD	78
Appendix J: Subgroup analysis of plasma Gal-3 concentration among disease	70
Appendix K: Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve	80
VITA	81



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF TABLES

	F	² age
Table 1:	Signalment data of normal and DMVD groups (mean \pm SD)	31
Table 2:	Percentage of fibrosis area of papillary muscles and LV walls in	
	normal and DMVD groups (mean ± SD)	33
Table 3:	The correlations between percentage of fibrosis area and age and	
	weight of normal dogs	35
Table 4:	Percentage of Gal-3 expression of papillary muscles and LV walls in	
	normal and DMVD groups (mean ± SD)	36
Table 5:	The correlations between percentage of Gal-3 expression and age and	I
	weight of normal dogs	38
Table 6:	Signalment data of normal and DMVD groups (mean \pm SD)	39
Table 7:	History taking data of DMVD group	40
Table 8:	Physical examination data of DMVD group	41
Table 9:	Complete blood count profiles of normal and DMVD groups (mean \pm	
	SD)	42
Table 10:	Blood chemistry profiles of normal and DMVD group (mean \pm SD)	43
Table 11:	Echocardiographic data of normal and DMVD group (Mean ± SD)	45
Table 12:	Plasma Gal-3 concentration of normal and DMVD groups (median; 25 th	1
	and 75 th percentile)	46
Table 13:	The correlations between plasma Gal-3 concentration and age and	
	weight of normal dogs	48
Table 14:	The correlations between plasma Gal-3 concentration and	
	echocardiographic indices of entire population	49
Table 15:	Cut-off value of plasma Gal-3 concentration	80

LIST OF FIGURES

	F	Page
Figure 1:	Renin angiotensin aldosterone system	6
Figure 2:	Roles of Gal-3 on cardiac fibrosis	15
Figure 3:	Degenerative mitral valve leaflets and normal valve leaflets	19
Figure 4:	Sampling sites of left ventricle: papillary muscles and left ventricular walls	20
Figure 5:	Pathological process of tissue sampling	20
Figure 6:	Two-dimensional right parasternal four chamber view of echocardiogram shows thickening of mitral valve leaflets	26
Figure 7:	Color-flow Doppler echocardiogram shows severity of mitral valve regurgitation	27
Figure 8:	Gross appearance of DMVD heart was round with left ventricular chamber dilatation	32
Figure 9:	Sub-endocardial fibrosis in papillary muscle of DMVD dog (H&E stain, 10x magnification).	34
Figure 10:	Sub-endocardial fibrosis in papillary muscle and LV wall of normal and DMVD groups respectively (Masson trichrome stain, 10x magnification).	34
Figure 11:	Gal-3 expression in papillary muscles and LV muscles of normal and DMVD groups	37
Figure 12:	Gal-3 expression in cytoplasm of Purkinje like cells and cardiomyocytes (LSAB, IHC, Mayer's Hematoxylin counterstained, 40x magnification).	37
Figure 13:	The correlation between percentage of fibrosis area and percentage of Gal-3 expression of entire population	38

Figure 14:	Boxplot of plasma Gal-3 concentration in normal and DMVD groups 4
Figure 15:	Scatter plot of plasma Gal-3 concentration in normal and DMVD
	groups4
Figure 16:	Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve
Figure 17:	Boxplot of plasma Gal-3 concentration dividing by stage of DMVD
Figure 18:	Boxplot of plasma Gal-3 concentration dividing by disease severity 79
Figure 19:	Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve dividing by sensitivity
	and specificity



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Page

CHAPTER I

Degenerative mitral valve disease (DMVD) is the most common acquired cardiac disease in adult small to medium sized breed dogs. DMVD is also the most frequent cause of congestive heart failure (CHF) in dogs. The prevalence is age related, especially in old small sized breed dogs. DMVD occurs in males more frequently than females (Borgarelli and Buchanan, 2012). The predisposing breeds include small to medium sized breed dogs such as Cavalier King Charles spaniels, Miniature poodles, Cocker spaniels, Miniature schnauzers, Dachshunds, Pomeranians, Chihuahuas, Pekingese, Fox terriers, Boston terriers and mixed breed dogs (Disatian, 2010). This disease is a progression of valve degeneration. The affected mitral valve leaflets are nodular and thickening. The chordae tendineae become elongated and occasional rupture. Thickening of valve leaflets results in valve regurgitation. These pathological changes cause regurgitant flow from left ventricle to left atrium during systole. The progression of mitral valve insufficiency leads to remodeling of left atrium and left ventricle by myocardial hypertrophy and chamber dilatation. The affected dogs will eventually develop CHF and need to be treated by either surgical or medical therapy (Haggstrom et al., 2004).

Mitral valve prolapse (MVP) is one of cardiovascular diseases in human caused by abnormality of mitral valve (Hayek et al., 2005). The pathophysiology of this disease in human is similar to DMVD in dogs (Pedersen and Haggstrom, 2000). MVP has been suggested to be involved with cardiac remodeling called cardiac dilatation or eccentric hypertrophy (Cohn et al., 2000). Cardiac remodeling is caused by abnormal hemodynamic and neurohormonal activation (Cohn et al., 2000). Histopathological studies on cardiac muscles in MVP patients found abnormal endocardium and interstitial fibrosis (Mason et al., 1978). Many human researches indicated that cardiac fibrosis is one of the pathological changes of cardiac remodeling resulted from cardiovascular diseases (Cohn et al., 2000; Lijnen and Petrov, 2000; Burlew and Weber, 2002). However, there are few studies about cardiac fibrosis in dogs with DMVD (Falk et al., 2006; Falk et al., 2010; Falk et al., 2013). Dogs with left ventricular dilatation have more collagen deposition in left ventricular myocardium (Weber et al., 1990). DMVD dogs have more fibrosis in myocardium than normal dogs and mainly found in sub-endocardium and papillary muscles of the left ventricle (Falk et al., 2006; Falk et al., 2010). The survival times of DMVD dogs may be associated with the severity of fibrosis in cardiac muscles (Falk et al., 2010). Cardiac fibrosis can be detected by histopathology of myocardium or measurement of serum cardiac fibrosis markers.

Galectin-3 (Gal-3) is a soluble β -galactoside-binding lectins. Interestingly, one of the effects of Gal-3 is promoting fibrosis. According to previous studies, Gal-3 is suggested to play an important role in cardiac fibrosis and pathophysiology of CHF (Sharma et al., 2004; de Boer et al., 2009; Lok et al., 2010; Ho et al., 2012). Several studies indicated that Gal-3 is up-regulated in rat, murine and human hearts with CHF (Sharma et al., 2004; de Boer et al., 2009). In human, circulating Gal-3 concentration has been proved as a marker of cardiac fibrosis and can be used as a prognostic marker in CHF human patients (Lok et al., 2010; Ho et al., 2012). Recently, Gal-3 expression in canine heart has not been studied and the concentration of Gal-3 in circulation of dogs with DMVD is unknown. The aims of this study were to determine the expression of Gal-3 in cardiac muscles and to measure level of plasma Gal-3 in CHF dogs with DMVD. The short term goal of this study is to prove a role of Gal-3 as a marker of cardiac fibrosis in DMVD dogs. The long term goal is to use plasma Gal-3 concentration for prognosis or monitoring the response to therapies.

Objectives of Study

- 1. To determine the expression of Gal-3 in cardiac muscles of normal and DMVD dogs.
- 2. To measure plasma Gal-3 levels in normal and DMVD dogs.

Hypothesis

- 1. Gal-3 is up-regulated in cardiac muscles of DMVD dogs compared to normal dogs.
- 2. Gal-3 concentration is increased in DMVD dogs compared to normal dogs.

Keywords: cardiac fibrosis, congestive heart failure, degenerative mitral valve disease, Galectin-3

Advantages of Study

The advantage of this study is to prove a role of Gal-3 as a marker of cardiac fibrosis in DMVD dogs. In case that Gal-3 can be used as a marker of cardiac fibrosis in dogs affected with DMVD, circulating Gal-3 concentration may be used for prognosis or monitoring the response to therapies.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEWS

Degenerative mitral valve disease

Degenerative mitral valve disease (DMVD) is the most common acquired cardiac disease in adult small to medium sized breed dogs. DMVD can be called in other names such as myxomatous mitral valve disease, endocardiosis, chronic valvular disease and chronic myxomatous valve disease. About 97% of 9 years old and older dogs develop severe lesions of mitral valve degeneration (Borgarelli and Buchanan, 2012). The prevalence is age related and varied from 5% to 75% in dogs less than 1 year old to 16 years old (Borgarelli and Buchanan, 2012). Males are more frequently affected than females (Borgarelli and Buchanan, 2012). The predisposing breeds include small to medium sized breed dogs such as Cavalier King Charles spaniels, Miniature poodles, Cocker spaniels, Miniature schnauzers, Dachshunds, Pomeranians, Chihuahuas, Pekingese, Fox terriers, Boston terriers and mixed breed (Disatian, 2010). The heredity was suspected as an important cause to pass on the DMVD from generation to generation (Haggstrom et al., 2004). The previous study confirmed that genetic factors are the cause of this disease in Cavalier King Charles spaniels and Dachshunds (Haggstrom et al., 2004).

DMVD is a progression of valve degeneration. The affected mitral valve leaflets are nodular and thickening. The chordae tendineae become elongated and occasional rupture. Rupture of chordae tendineae usually occurs at minor chords. Rupture of major chords conduces to acute mitral valve regurgitation (Haggstrom et al., 2009). The thickening valve can cause valve regurgitation. Chronic mitral valve regurgitation leads to cardiac remodeling characterized by left atrial and left

ventricular dilatation. Left atrial enlargement may cause atrial fibrillation and worsening clinical outcome (Haggstrom et al., 2009). The pathological changes of valve apparatus cause regurgitant flow from left ventricle to left atrium during systole resulting in reduction of forward stroke volume. All of these changes stimulate the neurohormonal activation in order to maintain sufficient forward stroke volume, blood pressure and tissue perfusion by increasing sodium and water retention as well as vasoconstriction. However, the excessive responses of neurohormonal systems lead to cardiac volume overload and increased afterload. Finally, the affected dogs will develop left sided congestive heart failure (Oyama, 2009). There are several neurohormonal systems involved in pathophysiology of congestive heart failure such as sympathetic nervous system, Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System (RAAS) and endothelin (Bernay et al., 2010). RAAS is a system that plays a major role in response to a decrease of cardiac output and renal blood flow by stimulating the release of renin from kidney. Renin stimulates conversion of angiotensinogen produced by liver to angiotensin I (ATI). ATI are then converted into angiotensin II (ATII) by angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) from pulmonary system (Oyama, 2009). The biological actions of ATII are to stimulate sympathetic activity, increase sodium and chloride reabsorption, augment potassium excretion, increase fluid retention, constrict blood vessels and accelerate adrenal glands and pituitary gland to secret aldosterone and anti-diuretic hormone (ADH), respectively. Increasing of ATII and aldosterone in long term contributes to increase heart workload and cardiac remodeling (Mochel et al., 2013). The elevation of aldosterone causes many negative effects including promoting myocardial fibrosis and cardiac remodeling by stimulate collagen synthesis (Bernay et al., 2010), decreasing baroreceptor sensitivity and inducing endothelial dysfunction (Struthers, 2004).



Figure 1: Renin angiotensin aldosterone system

The diagnosis of dogs with DMVD can be performed by history taking, physical examination, thoracic radiography, electrocardiography and echocardiography.

- <u>Signalment:</u> Adult small to medium sized breed dogs are predisposing to this disease. Cavalier King Charles spaniels can have this disease at younger ages and develop CHF faster than other breeds (Borgarelli and Buchanan, 2012).
- <u>History taking</u>: The clinical signs of DMVD dogs include signs of left sided CHF such as cough, exercise intolerance, dyspnea and occasional syncope (Disatian, 2010). Some DMVD dogs may not have clinical sign.
- <u>Physical examination</u>: The left apical systolic murmur loudest at mitral area is usually found. However, dogs with mild DMVD may not have murmur heart sound (Borgarelli and Buchanan, 2012). Intensity of heart murmur is an indirect indicator of mitral regurgitation severity (Haggstrom et al., 2009). The precordial thrill can be palpable in dogs with severe mitral valve regurgitation (Haggstrom et al., 2004).

- <u>Thoracic radiography:</u> Left atrial and ventricular enlargement can be found in dogs with severe DMVD. Vascular enlargement and pulmonary edema can be seen in dogs with left sided CHF (Boswood, 2008; Disatian, 2010).
- <u>Electrocardiography:</u> The findings from electrocardiography are non-specific. Supraventricular arrhythmias, sinus tachycardia and atrial fibrillation can be found (Oliveira et al., 2014).
- Echocardiography: Echocardiography is a gold standard tool to detect dogs with early DMVD (Haggstrom et al., 2004). Two dimensional and M-mode echocardiography are valuable non-invasive procedures that provide information of mitral valve lesions, severity of mitral valve regurgitation, cardiac function and cardiac remodeling (Haggstrom et al., 2004; Boswood, 2008; Disatian, 2010). Nodular, thickening and irregular valves are common echocardiographic findings. Chordae tendineae rupture can be seen in severe cases (Chetboul and Tissier, 2012). Doppler color flow on two dimensional echocardiography is commonly used to evaluate severity of mitral valve regurgitation by determining ratio of regurgitant jet area to left atrial area during systole. The severity of regurgitation is divided into mild (< 20-30%), moderate (≥ 20-30% but ≤ 70%) and severe (> 70%) (Chetboul and Tissier, 2012).

DMVD is a progressive disease. Dogs with mild mitral valve regurgitation may not have clinical sign called asymptomatic DMVD. When severity of regurgitation is increased, decompensated dogs start to show clinical signs of CHF called symptomatic DMVD (Häggström et al., 2004). The identification of stages and disease severity are useful to guide prognosis and select treatment protocols (Atkins and Häggström, 2012). American College of Veterinary Internal Medicine (ACVIM) classified DMVD into 4 stages as follow (Atkins et al., 2009; Atkins and Häggström, 2012):

- <u>Stage A</u>: Dogs that are at high risk for developing heart disease but not yet have cardiac structural changes such as Cavalier King Charles spaniels.
- <u>Stage B</u>: Dogs that have cardiac structural changes with murmur heart sound but have no clinical sign of CHF. This stage is subdivided into B1 and B2.
 - Stage B1: Dogs in this stage have no radiographic and echocardiographic evidence referring to cardiac remodeling.
 - Stage B2: Dogs in this stage have radiographic and echocardiographic evidence of cardiac remodeling such as left sided heart enlargement.
- <u>Stage C:</u> Dogs that have cardiac structural changes with murmur heart sound and have clinical signs of CHF such as cough, exercise intolerance, dyspnea and syncope.
- <u>Stage D:</u> Dogs with end stage CHF and refractory to standard therapy (e.g. Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Inhibitor (ACEI) and furosemide).

The affected dogs with CHF need to be treated by either surgical or medical therapy. The surgical therapy can be done to pause progression of valve degeneration or enhance valve function by valve replacement or valve repair (Griffiths et al., 2004). However, the surgical procedures need to be performed by experienced veterinary surgeons. The cost of the operation is quite high. To increase the success rate of the operation, the procedure has to be done before the dogs have clinical signs of CHF (Haggstrom et al., 2004). Therefore, the surgical therapy for heart valve disease is available in only a few hospital case dogs. The medical therapy is used as a palliative treatment because currently there is no drug that can inhibit or prevent progression of valve degeneration. The targets of medical therapy are to improve quality of life, clinical signs and survival time (Haggstrom et al., 2004). Commonly, veterinarians treat CHF dogs with ACEI and furosemide. This combination is able to prolong survival time and improve quality of life in DMVD dogs (de Madron

et al., 2011). ACEI can suppress RAAS but cannot completely inhibit aldosterone production. Although, aldosterone level decreases in response to ACEI, its level can increase again after several months of treatment, i.e. aldosterone escape (Struthers, 2004). Aldosterone has numerous negative effects promoting progression of heart failure as described above, especially the direct effect on myocardial and endothelial fibrosis.

Cardiac fibrosis

In human, mitral valve prolapse (MVP) is one of cardiovascular diseases caused by an abnormality of mitral valve. The myxomatous degeneration causes valve thickening and redundancy leading to mitral valve regurgitation. Patients with severe mitral valve regurgitation will have left ventricular dilatation and left atrial enlargement (Hayek et al., 2005). The pathophysiology of this disease in human is similar to DMVD in dogs (Pedersen and Haggstrom, 2000). MVP has been suggested to be involved with cardiac remodeling called cardiac dilatation or eccentric hypertrophy (Cohn et al., 2000). Cardiac remodeling is caused by abnormal hemodynamic and neurohormonal activation (Cohn et al., 2000). Histopathological studies on cardiac muscles in MVP patients found an abnormal endocardium and interstitial fibrosis (Mason et al., 1978; Burlew and Weber, 2002).

Myocardium is consisted of cardiomyocytes, cardiofibroblasts, endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells. Cardiac fibroblast is the major cell type found in myocardium (Fan et al., 2012). It has function to regulate collagen turnover in normal heart. Disturbance of homeostasis between collagen synthesis and degradation leads to structural and functional abnormalities of the heart (Kong et al., 2014). Collagen type I and III are mainly found in myocardium. These collagen networks contribute cardiac strength and play a role in connection of myocytes.

There are several conditions stimulating collagen deposition in myocardium such as age, pressure overload, volume overload, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, toxic substance and metabolic disturbance. The replacement of fibrous tissues in myocardium or myocardial fibrosis occurs secondary to the death of myocytes from cardiac volume overload or cardiac injury by cytotoxic effects of angiotensin II and aldosterone (Mason et al., 1978; Cohn et al., 2000). ATII stimulates cardiac fibroblast proliferation and promotes collagen synthesis by inducing an up-regulation of myocardial procollagens type I and III through transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) and interfering matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) to break down collagen (Passino et al., 2014). Actions of aldosterone on cardiac fibrosis are promoting pro-inflammatory effects, converting macrophages to fibroblasts, activating cardiomyocyte-derived fibrogenic signals and stimulating fibroblast proliferation (Kong et al., 2014). Moreover, chronic elevation of aldosterone causes an increase of potassium loss in urine and leads to a decrease of intracellular potassium. The reduction of intracellular potassium causes cardiac myocyte necrosis following by cardiac fibrosis (Lijnen and Petrov, 2000).

Many human researches indicated that cardiac fibrosis is one of the pathological changes of cardiac remodeling resulting from cardiovascular diseases (Cohn et al., 2000; Lijnen and Petrov, 2000; Burlew and Weber, 2002). A Post-mortem study in humans with cardiovascular diseases found an accumulation of collagen in cardiac muscles called cardiac fibrosis (Pearlman et al., 1982; Huysman et al., 1989; Beltrami et al., 1994; Rossi, 1998). The information of cardiac fibrosis in dogs are mostly obtained from histopathological studies of myocardium in post-mortem or experimental dogs. A previous study demonstrated an increased collagen deposition in left ventricular myocardium of experimental dogs with cardiac dilatation (Weber et al., 1990). A post-mortem study demonstrated that DMVD dogs had more fibrosis in myocardium than normal dogs. The fibrosis was mainly found in sub-endocardium and papillary muscles of the left ventricle (Falk et al., 2006; Falk et al., 2010; Falk et al., 2013). The survival time of DMVD dogs is associated with the severity of fibrosis in cardiac muscles (Falk et al., 2010).

Cardiac muscles with fibrosis are stiffness and inflexible resulting in systolic and diastolic dysfunction (Kong et al., 2014). Detection of cardiac fibrosis in human patients consists of invasive and non-invasive techniques. Each technique has advantages and disadvantages (de Jong et al., 2012).

Detection of cardiac fibrosis

Invasive techniques

For invasive techniques, cardiac biopsy by catheterization or surgery is widely used to investigate structural changes in myocardium. However, this technique has the risk effect and cannot provide information of overall structural changes. It is representative only the area of collected tissues. Histologically, Masson's trichrome and Picriosirius Red are the routine and cheap techniques for detecting collagen. Fluorescent labeled antibodies, immunohistochemistry and western blot are also used for more specific collagen detection. Because these methods need high cost antibodies and advanced equipments which are not available in all laboratories, the dye staining technique is more wildly used (de Jong et al., 2012).

Non-invasive techniques

- <u>Circulating fibrosis biomarkers:</u> There are several cardiac fibrosis biomarkers that can be detected fibrosis non-invasively including N-terminal procollagen type III (PIIINP) and C- and N- terminal procollagen type I (PICP and PINP), the products of cleaved procollagen as well as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs), collagen degradation biomarkers. However, these biomarkers are nonspecific makers of cardiac fibrosis. The levels of these biomarkers can be increased secondary to other sites of fibrosis (de Jong et al., 2012).

- <u>MRI</u>: MRI is a tool that can be used to detect cardiac collagen deposition indirectly by using gadolinium-based contrast agent. However, this technique can detect only large area of fibrosis (de Jong et al., 2012).
- <u>Echocardiography and electrocardiography</u> are ineffective tools for detecting cardiac fibrosis (Falk et al., 2010).

As described above, the histopathology is the gold standard method used to detect cardiac fibrosis. However, this method is not practical to perform in alive patients. The measurement of cardiac fibrosis markers which is a non-invasive method may be more suitable to use specially in alive patients. To date, there are a few cardiac fibrosis markers used in veterinary medicine (Boswood, 2009). PIIINP is a fibrosis marker that has been used widely to detect cardiac fibrosis in humans. However, several studies indicated that PIIINP might be not a good marker to determine the fibrosis status in DMVD dogs (Schuller et al., 2006; Hezzell et al., 2012). Galectin-3 (Gal-3) is a new biomarker associated with fibrosis in humans which is not currently used in veterinary medicine.

Galectin-3

Galectin-3 (Gal-3) is a soluble β -galactoside-binding lectins, with a protein size of 29 to 35 kilodalton (Dumic et al., 2006). Gal-3 consisted of two functional domains including N-terminal domain that have tandem repeated short amino acid segments (110-130 amino acids, depending on species) and C-terminal carbohydraterecognition domain with 130 amino acids. Gal-3 has high homology of amino acid and gene sequences between different species (Dumic et al., 2006). Gal-3 is widely found in epithelial cells, fibroblasts, monocytes, macrophages, eosinophils, neutrophils, mast cells and dendritic cells (de Boer et al., 2009). In tissues, Gal-3 overexpressed in lung, spleen, stomach, colon, adrenal gland, uterus and ovary; on the other hand, it expressed at a low level in kidney, heart, cerebrum, pancreas and liver (de Boer et al., 2010). Because Gal-3 has no signal peptide for vesicle-mediated exocytosis secretory pathway, it is localized in cytoplasm and occasionally in nucleus. Gal-3 can move from cytoplasm to nucleus by passive and active pathway (de Boer et al., 2010). Gal-3 has no specific receptors. It can interact with both cell surface receptors (e.g. macrophage) and extracellular receptors (e.g. collagen IV) containing suitable oligosaccharides (de Boer et al., 2010). Gal-3 can be secreted via non-classical secretory pathway by activated macrophages, mast cells, eosinophils and fibroblasts into extracellular space then bind to cell surface receptors to initiate transmembrane signaling pathway leading to inflammation and fibrosis (de Boer et al., 2009; de Boer et al., 2011). Gal-3 is involved in many biological functions including cell differentiation, proliferation, adhesion, inflammation, immune response, cancer and promoting fibrosis.

Location of Gal-3 expression can be defined its biological roles. There are two types of Gal-3 including intracellular Gal-3 and extracellular Gal-3.

Intracellular Gal-3

Intracellular Gal-3 can be found both in cytoplasm and nucleus. Gal-3 in cytoplasm is regulated cell proliferation, differentiation, survival and death. Nuclear Gal-3 is regulated gene transcription and required as a pre-mRNA splicing factor (Haudek et al., 2010). Gal-3 can stimulate cell proliferation in experimental fibroblast cell culture. An up-regulation and down regulation of Gal-3 affect the B-cell differentiation between memory cells and plasma cells (de Boer et al., 2009). Gal-3 has both pro-apoptotic (extracellular Gal-3) and anti-apoptotic (intracellular Gal-3) properties (Dumic et al., 2006; de Boer et al., 2009; Haudek et al., 2010).

Extracellular Gal-3

Extracellular Gal-3 can be found on cell surface, in extracellular matrix and biological fluids. Gal-3 is exported to outside of the cell via vesicles containing Gal-3. Extracellular Gal-3 is mediated cell adhesion, cell activation and chemoattraction via autocrine and paracrine pathway (Dumic et al., 2006; de Boer et al., 2009).

The location of Gal-3 in cardiac tissues has not been reported. Immunohistochemistry and confocal laser microscopy studies revealed the localization of Gal-3 in fibroblasts and macrophages in myocardial matrix and at the sites of fibrosis (de Boer et al., 2009; de Boer et al., 2010).

Gal-3 in cardiovascular disease

There are several conditions attributed to cardiac injury leading to cardiac fibrosis. Fibroblasts, myofibroblasts and macrophages are key cells involved in initiation and progression of cardiac fibrosis. When cardiac injury occurs, activated macrophages are infiltrated to the site of injury and secreted Gal-3 into extracellular space. Gal-3 in extracellular space bound to intracellular receptors of fibroblasts then activated resting fibroblasts to active fibroblasts (Inohara et al., 1998; Sharma et al., 2004; de Boer et al., 2009). Active fibroblasts secreted procollagen into extracellular matrix. Amino and carboxy-peptide terminals of procollagen are then removed by protease enzymes to form mature collagen leading to collagen deposition in myocardium (Hundae and McCullough, 2014; Passino et al., 2014).



Figure 2: Roles of Gal-3 on cardiac fibrosis (Modified from Hundae and McCullough, 2014)

Expression of Gal-3 in cardiac muscles

Immunohistochemistry is an useful technique to detect Gal-3 expression in cardiac muscles (Sharma et al., 2004; de Boer et al., 2009) and other tissues (Kim et al., 2006; Nio et al., 2006; Kim et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2009; Nio-Kobayashi et al., 2009; Park et al., 2012; Haddad Kashani et al., 2013). This method provides distribution, localization and location of Gal-3 expression in tissue samples. Moreover, it can be showed level and intensity of Gal-3 expression in different tissues (Hofman and Taylor, 2001).

Immunohistochemistry demonstrated an up-regulation of Gal-3 in CHF rat, murine and human hearts with cardiac fibrosis (Sharma et al., 2004; de Boer et al., 2009; de Boer et al., 2010; Beiras-Fernandez et al., 2013; Yu et al., 2013; Passino et al., 2014). There are several studies about relationship between Gal-3 and cardiovascular diseases. Gene expression studies indicated that Gal-3 gene was overexpressed in CHF rat hearts. The expression of Gal-3 was 5-fold higher in decompensated than in compensated CHF rat hearts (Sharma et al., 2004; de Boer et al., 2010). Expression of Gal-3 in early stage hypertrophic heart was increased only in rats that later developed CHF but not in rats that do not develope CHF (Sharma et al., 2004). Human patients with aortic stenosis with the depression of ejection fraction overexpressed Gal-3 in myocardium (Sharma et al., 2004).

Expression of Gal-3 in blood circulation

The gold standard method used to detect cardiac fibrosis is histopathology which is not practical in alive patients. Measurements of cardiac fibrosis markers may be more suitable. Gal-3 is a new biomarker of cardiac fibrosis used in human patients. Levels of circulating Gal-3 are associated with left ventricular mass related to cardiac fibrosis in human patients (Ho et al., 2012). Moreover, circulating Gal-3 concentration was higher in CHF than healthy people (Milting et al., 2008; Lok et al., 2010; Beiras-Fernandez et al., 2013). Once Gal-3 is elevated, its level is stable for a long period of time. Normal cut-off value of Gal-3 in humans is 17.7 ng/ml. Patients with subclinical stage of CHF had minor elevation of Gal-3 concentration (de Boer et al., 2011). Patients with higher baseline Gal-3 level tended to have more mortality rate than others (Lok et al., 2010). An increase of plasma Gal-3 was related to an increase risk of mortality from cardiovascular diseases (de Boer et al., 2011) and increased incidence of CHF (Ho et al., 2012). Moreover, Gal-3 level was increased along with cardiovascular disease progression and associated with severity outcome (Lopez-Andres et al., 2012). Based on the information mentioned previously, not only a cardiac fibrosis marker, but circulating Gal-3 concentration can also be used as a prognostic marker to predict an onset of CHF in asymptomatic patients as well as the time of hospitalization and death of CHF patients (de Boer et al., 2010; Lok et al., 2010; Ho et al., 2012).

There are 2 major methods used to determine circulation Gal-3 levels including automated immunoassay and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). ELISA method takes more times to do than automated immunoassay. However, the sensitivity of these 2 methods are similar (Passino et al., 2014). ELISA is an easier and convenient method to evaluate value of Gal-3 concentration in each patient. To date, there are species specific ELISA kits providing more reliable results.

All of above information revealed the advantage of Gal-3 as a cardiac fibrosis marker in human patients. However, the expression of Gal-3 in canine cardiac muscles has not been studied and the concentration of circulating Gal-3 in dogs with DMVD is unknown. Thus, the present study aimed to determine the expression of Gal-3 in cardiac muscles and measure level of plasma Gal-3 in order to prove whether Gal-3 can be a candidate marker of cardiac fibrosis in dogs affected with DMVD.

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was divided into two parts. Part I was the determination of expression of Gal-3 in cardiac muscles and Part II was the determination of plasma Gal-3 concentration.

Part I: Histology

Tissue samples

22 samples from 6 years old or older with body weight less than 15 kilograms necropsy dogs presented at the Department of Veterinary Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University were collected. The hearts were removed and dissected to determine mitral valve thickness. Specimens were divided into 2 groups as following criteria.

- DMVD group: 12 dogs with mitral valve thickness more than 2 millimeters and left ventricular chamber dilatation were selected into this group.
- Control group: 10 dogs without lesion of mitral valve degeneration (valve thickness less than 2 millimeters) and cardiac remodeling were included into this group.



Figure 3: Degenerative mitral valve leaflets (A) and normal valve leaflets (B).

Tissue preparation

The hearts were removed and dissected in both ventricles from apex to base. After dissected, mitral valve leaflets were determined and measured by vernier caliper. Myocardial tissue samples were randomly collected at papillary muscles and left ventricular walls (4 pieces per dog). Size of tissue samples was approximately 1 cm^2 each. Samples were fixed in 10% formalin for 24 hours, histologically processed and then embedded in paraffin blocks. All tissue blocks were sectioned at 4 μ m thickness and placed on silane-coated slides and stained with Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) for determining general appearance and Masson trichrome (MT) for evaluating collagen expression i.e. cardiac fibrosis.



Figure 4: Sampling sites of left ventricle: papillary muscles (1, 2) and left ventricular walls (3, 4).



Figure 5: Pathological process of tissue sampling: A) Tissues were collected 4 pieces/dog at size approximately 1 cm² each, B) After 24 hours of formalin fixation, tissues were trimmed and then placed into cassettes (C) for histological process.

Cardiac fibrosis evaluation by Masson trichrome staining

All tissue sections were deparaffinized in xylene, rehydrated in absolute and 95% alcohol, immersed in Mordant in Bouin's solution overnight at room temperature then washed in running water followed by distilled water (DW). After that, the sections were stained with Weigert's iron hematoxylin solution for 10 minutes. After washing process, the sections were stained with Biebrich scarlet-acid fuchin solution for 3 minutes, washed with DW and then immersed in Phosphomolybdic-phosphotungstic acid for 15 minutes. Collagen was stained by Aniline blue solution for 20 minutes, washed with DW and immersed in 1% Gracial acetic solution for 5 minutes. Thereafter, all section slides were dipped in 100% alcohol and xylene for dehydrating and then mounted. All of these procedures were done by one person and same condition at the Department of Veterinary Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary Science Chulalongkorn University.

All slides were microscopically examined for myocardial fibrosis from Masson trichrome staining. Sections were randomly photographed under light microscope for 10 areas with Olympus BX50 photomicroscope under 20x magnification. The areas of blue staining (collagen) were calculated as a percentage of the total selected area by using Image-ProPlus software (Image – Pro® Plus version 6.0, Media Cybernetics, Inc., Rockville, MD, U.S.A.) (Linharattanaruksa et al., 2014; Park et al., 2014).

Galectin-3 expression by immunohistochemistry

 $4 \ \mu m$ thick sections were deparaffinized in xylene, rehydrated in different concentration alcohol (absoluted, 95%, 80% and 70% alcohol), and then pretreated with citrate buffer (0.01M, pH 6.0) heated in autoclave for 5 minutes. Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by 3% hydrogen peroxide for 10 minutes at room temperature. Slides were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; pH7.4) and

non-specific antibody was blocked by binding with normal bovine serum albumin for 20 minutes at 37°C. The slides were washed with PBS and incubated with primary antibody at 4°C overnight. Monoclonal mouse antibody against human galectin-3 (NCL-GSL3; Novocastra Laboratories, Newcastle, UK) was used as a primary antibody at 1 in 100 dilution. After washing with PBS, the slides were incubated with EnVision kit (Dako, Hamburg, Germany) for 45 minutes at 37°C and washed again with PBS. Peroxidase activity was developed by incubated with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (1:50 DAB) (Dako, Hamburg, Germany) for 3 minutes at room temperature. Finally, slides were counterstained with Mayer's Hematoxylin and then mounted (Choi et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 2007). The positive control slides were prepared by using canine mammary adenoma (Choi et al., 2004). All of these procedures were done by one person and same condition.

All slides were microscopically examined for the area of Gal-3 immunolabelling. Sections were randomly photographed under light microscope for 10 areas with Olympus BX50 photomicroscope under 20x magnification and calculated the mean score of Gal-3 expression. The expression of Gal-3 was quantitatively evaluated by image analyzer program. Score of Gal-3 expression was calculated as a percentage of positive area (brown) to total selected area by using Image-ProPlus software (Image – Pro® Plus version 6.0, Media Cybernetics, Inc., Rockville, MD, U.S.A) (Johnson et al., 2007).

Part II: Determination of plasma Gal-3

Animals

The study protocol was approved by Animal Care and Use Committee, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University (Animal Use Protocol No. 1431033). Blood samples were collected from 46 dogs with 6 years old or older and body weight less than 15 kilograms presented at the Small Animal Hospital, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University with the permission from the owners. All dogs were performed history taking, physical examination, blood collection, thoracic radiography and echocardiography. Dogs were then divided into 2 groups as follow.

DMVD group: consisted of 27 DMVD dogs newly diagnosed for DMVD. Inclusion criteria

To be included in this group, each dog had to be newly diagnosed with DMVD and had normal blood profiles for complete blood count (CBC) and blood chemistry. All dogs in this group had not been treated with cardiovascular medicine. Dogs with or without clinical sign of heart failure such as exercise intolerance, cough and dyspnea were included.

Exclusion criteria

Dogs were excluded, if they were on any cardiovascular medication. Dogs that have other cardiac diseases or systemic diseases such as hepatic diseases: alkaline phosphatase (ALP) of more than 5 times the upper limit of normal range and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) of more than 2-3 times the upper limit of normal range (Webster, 2010), kidney diseases: creatinine greater than 1.8 mg%; BUN greater than 27 mg% (Douglass et al., 2005) and neoplasia were excluded.
• **Control group:** consisted of 19 healthy dogs.

Inclusion criteria

To be included in this group, each dog had to have normal physical examination, normal blood profiles for CBC and blood chemistry.

Exclusion criteria

Dogs were excluded, if they had evidence of heart murmur, cardiovascular diseases or other systemic diseases such as hepatic diseases, kidney diseases and neoplasia.

Clinical Procedures

All data of history taking, physical examination, blood profiles, thoracic radiography and echocardiography were collected as baseline data

- 1. History taking consisted of signalment, clinical signs, drugs in use, and related disease.
- 2. Complete physical examination was performed and recorded including color of mucous membrane, capillary refilling time, hydration status, heart sound, lung sound, pulse quality, temperature, heart rate, respiratory rate and body condition score.
- 3. Blood collection for complete blood count, blood chemistry profiles and blood parasite were evaluated to rule out other systemic diseases such as liver and kidney diseases by in-house Veterinary Laboratory of Small Animal Hospital, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University.
- 4. Thoracic radiography was performed to evaluate heart size and shape, severity of pulmonary edema and rule out primary respiratory diseases. Two view radiographs including dorsoventral and lateral views were performed.

The radiography was interpreted by clinician at radiology unit of Small Animal Hospital, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University.

- 5. Echocardiography was performed to confirm the diagnosis of DMVD and determined the cardiac structural changes by using ultrasound machine (Logic[™] 5 Pro) with 6-10 multifrequency and 5-6 MHz phrase array transducer microconvex probe. All dogs were not sedated and restrained in right lateral recumbency.
 - 5.1 <u>Two-dimensional echocardiography</u> was used to determine mitral valve lesions including thickening of valve leaflet and chordae tendineae, valve prolapse or chordal rupture (Fig. 6). All of these procedures were determined from right parasternal four chamber view by one sonologist.
 - 5.2 <u>M-mode echocardiography</u> was used to determine evidence of cardiac remodeling. Echocardiographic indices including left ventricular end diastolic diameter (LVEDd), left ventricular end systolic diameter (LVESd), wall thickness of left ventricular free wall during diastole (LVWd) and systole (LVWs), interventricular septal thickness during diastole (VSd) and systole (VSs) and the ratio of left atrium to aorta dimension (LA/AO) were determined. All of these parameters were measured from right parasternal view. The fractional shortening was calculated by (LVEDd-LVESd)/LVEDd x100.

5.3 <u>Color flow Doppler on two-dimensional echocardiography</u> was performed to identify mitral regurgitation and estimate severity of valve regurgitation (Fig. 7) by determining the ratio of regurgitant jet area to left atrium area during systole. The severity of regurgitation divided into mild (< 20-30%), moderate (\geq 20-30% but \leq 70%) and severe (> 70%) (Chetboul and Tissier, 2012).



Figure 6: Two-dimensional right parasternal four chamber view of echocardiogram shows thickening of mitral valve leaflets. LV: left ventricle, LA: left atrium, RA: right atrium (Picture courtesy of Dr.Sirilak Surachetpong).





Figure 7: Color-flow Doppler echocardiogram shows severity of mitral valve regurgitation. Fig. 7A: mild (jet area < 20-30%) and Fig. 7B: moderate (jet area $\geq 20-30\%$ but $\leq 70\%$) and Fig. 7C: severe (jet area > 70%) (Picture courtesy of Dr.Sirilak Surachetpong).

Sample collection and preparation

To measure the plasma levels of Gal-3, blood samples were collected in both groups of dogs. One milliliter of blood was collected from cephalic or saphenous vein. Blood was contained in eppendorf with EDTA as an anticoagulant. The blood sample was centrifuged at approximately 1000xg (or 3000 rpm) for 15 minutes. Then, plasma was placed into a new plain eppendorf and stored at -20 $^{\circ}$ C until assay. All of these procedures were done by one person and same condition.

Measurement of Gal-3 concentration

All samples were batched for analysis and done in duplicate. Gal-3 concentration was analyzed by canine Galectin-3 (GAL3) ELISA kit (BlueGene Biotech, Shanghai, China). All procedures were done according to the test kit direction. Briefly, samples and buffer were incubated with GAL3-HRP conjugate in microplate. After 1 hour incubation period, wells were poured and washed to remove non-specific binding then incubated with substrate for HRP enzyme. Finally, the reaction was stopped by added stop solution into microplate. Spectrophotometry at 450 nm was used to measure intensity of color. Quantitative measurement of Gal-3 concentration can be done by comparing their absorbance with standard curve plotted from intensity of color and concentration from standard solution (BlueGene Biotech, Shanghai, China).

Validation of this ELISA assay was performed by using one of plasma samples from control dogs mixed with 5 different manufacturer standard concentrations of Gal-3 as a spike samples. Concentrations of manufacturer standards and spiked samples were plotted and evaluated for linearity. Recovery was calculated as percentage of recovered Gal-3 spiked samples to expect Gal-3 at 5 different concentrations (Arndt et al., 2009; Mangklabruks and Surachetpong, 2014).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed by the computer-based software, SPSS program. All data were tested for normality by Shapiro-Wilk test before run statistical testing.

Expression of Gal-3 in cardiac muscle

Descriptive statistic was applied for signalment including breeds and sex in normal and DMVD group. Mean \pm SD was applied for signalment including age and weight in normal and DMVD group. Differences of age and weight between normal and DMVD group were determined by independent T - test. The data of percentage of fibrosis area and percentage of Gal-3 expression were presented as Mean \pm SD. Independent T - test was used to compare percentage of fibrosis area and percentage of Gal-3 expression in cardiac muscles between normal and DMVD groups. Paired T - test was used to compare percentage of fibrosis area and percentage of Gal-3 expression between papillary muscles and LV walls of normal and DMVD groups. The correlations between percentage of fibrosis area and age and weight of normal group were evaluated by Pearson's correlation. The correlations between percentage of fibrosis area and age and weight of normal group were evaluated by Pearson's correlation. P value < 0.05 is considered statistical significant.

Determination of plasma Gal-3

Descriptive statistic was applied for signalment including breeds and sex in normal and DMVD group. Mean \pm SD was applied for signalment including age and weight in normal and DMVD group. Differences of age and weight between normal

and DMVD group were determined by independent T - test. Information about history taking, physical examination and thoracic radiography were represented as descriptive statistic. Mean \pm SD was applied for CBC, blood chemistry and echocardiographic index. Independent T - test was used to compare the CBC, blood chemistry and echocardiographic indices between control and DMVD group. Plasma Gal-3 concentration was non-parametric and represented as median; 25th and 75th percentile. Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare plasma Gal-3 concentration between control and DMVD group. Correlations between plasma Gal-3 concentration and age and weight of normal group were evaluated by Spearman's rank correlation. The correlation between plasma Gal-3 concentration and echocardiographic indices were evaluated by Spearman's rank correlation. P value < 0.05 is considered statistical significant.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Part I: Histopathology

Signalment

Cardiac muscles were collected from 22 necropsy dogs. Normal control group consisted of 10 dogs including one male and nine females (Female = 6; Female spay = 3). Breeds of dogs were Poodle (n = 4), Shih-Tzu (n = 2), French bulldog (n = 1), Chihuahua (n = 1), Beagle (n = 1) and Pomeranian (n = 1). DMVD group consisted of 12 dogs including 4 males (Male = 3; Male castrate = 1) and eight females (Female = 5; Female spay = 3). Breeds of dogs were Poodle (n = 7), Shih-Tzu (n = 3), Schnauzer (n = 1) and mixed breed (n = 1). Age of DMVD group was statistically significant older than normal group (p < 0.05). Weight between normal group and DMVD group was not statistically significant different. The major cause of death in DMVD group was associated with cardiorespiratory failure (n = 9). The others were died from other diseases (Septicemia = 2; Hepatic failure = 1).

JHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Group	N	Male	Female	Age (years)	Weight (kg)
Normal	10	1	9	9.45 ± 3.18	5.54 ± 2.00
DMVD	12	4	8	* 12.83 ± 4.03	6.61 ± 2.01

Table 1: Signalment data of normal and DMVD groups (mean ± SD)

The significant difference was assessed by independent - T test at p < 0.05.

Indicate statistically difference at p < 0.05 between normal and DMVD groups.

Cardiac fibrosis evaluation by Masson trichrome staining

Cardiac muscles were collected from normal and DMVD dogs for investigating cardiac fibrosis macroscopically and microscopically. Gross appearance of DMVD hearts showed nonspecific lesion. DMVD dogs had round with left ventricular chamber dilatation (Fig. 8). Microscopically, large area of cardiac fibrosis was found in DMVD dogs, especially in sub-endocardium of papillary muscles (Fig. 9). Masson trichrome staining showed an increased collagen deposition in sub-endocardium area of DMVD hearts (Fig. 10). Percentage of fibrosis area was significantly higher in DMVD than normal group in both papillary muscles (p < 0.01) and LV walls (p < 0.01). The area of fibrosis was higher in the papillary muscles than in LV walls in both normal (p < 0.05) and DMVD (p < 0.01) groups.



Figure 8: Gross appearance of DMVD heart was round with left ventricular chamber dilatation.

Table 2: Percentage of fibrosis area of papillary muscles and LV walls in normal andDMVD groups (mean \pm SD)

Group	% Fibrosis area		
	Papillary muscles	LV walls	
Normal	35.402 ± 8.457 ^a	27.405 ± 7.911 ^b	
DMVD	66.125 ± 5.579 ^{*, c}	52.975 ± 8.448 ^{*, d}	

The significant difference between normal and DMVD groups was assessed by independent - T test.

The significant difference between papillary muscles and LV walls was assessed by paired - T test.

Indicate statistically difference at p < 0.01 between normal and DMVD groups.

^{a,b} Indicate statistically difference at p < 0.05 between papillary muscles and LV walls of normal group.

^{c,d} Indicate statistically difference at p < 0.01 between papillary muscles and LV walls of DMVD group.



Figure 9: Sub-endocardial fibrosis in papillary muscle of DMVD dog (arrows) (H&E stain, 10x magnification).



Figure 10: Sub-endocardial fibrosis (blue) in papillary muscle (A,B) and LV wall (C,D) of normal and DMVD groups respectively. The collagen deposition was mainly found in sub-endocardium (Masson trichrome stain, 10x magnification).

There was no statistically correlation between percentage of fibrosis area and age as well as weight of normal dogs.

Table 3: The correlations between percentage of fibrosis area and age and weight of normal dogs

Parameters	r	P-value
Age	-0.097	0.789
Weight	0.382	0.276

The significant correlation was assessed by Pearson's correlation at p < 0.05.

r = Pearson's correlation coefficient

Galectin-3 expression by immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was performed to detect Gal-3 in cardiac muscles. Expression of Gal-3 in 12 DMVD and 10 normal heart samples was evaluated quantitatively by Image – ProPlus software. Gal-3 expression was observed in cytoplasm of cardiomyocytes and larger cells beneath endocardium which were suspected to be Purkinje cells and mainly found in sub-endocardium in DMVD group (Fig. 11 and 12). All DMVD hearts (100 percent; 12/12) were positive for Gal-3, while 30% of normal hearts (3/10) were positive for Gal-3. Percentage of Gal-3 expression was statistically increased in DMVD group compared to normal group in papillary muscles (p < 0.01) and LV walls (p < 0.01). Papillary muscles had statistically higher percentage of Gal-3 expression than LV walls in normal (p < 0.05) and DMVD groups (p < 0.01).

Table 4: Percentage of Gal-3 expression of papillary muscles and LV walls in normaland DMVD groups (mean \pm SD)

Group	% Gal-3 expression		
	Papillary muscles	LV walls	
Normal	1.073 ± 0.668^{a}	0.517 ± 0.421 ^b	
DMVD	^{*, c} 27.945 ± 6.944	^{*, d} 17.247 ± 8.758	

The significant difference between normal and DMVD groups was assessed by independent - T test.

The significant difference between papillary muscles and LV walls was assessed by paired - T test.

Indicate statistically difference at p < 0.01 between normal and DMVD groups.

^{a,b} Indicate statistically difference at p < 0.01 between papillary muscles and LV walls of normal group.

^{c,d} Indicate statistically difference at p < 0.01 between papillary muscles and LV walls of DMVD group.



Figure 11: Gal-3 expression in papillary muscles (A,B) and LV muscles (C,D) of normal and DMVD groups respectively. Gal-3 expression was mainly found in papillary muscles and sub-endocardium. (LSAB, IHC, Mayer's Hematoxylin counterstained, 10x magnification).



Figure 12: Gal-3 expression in cytoplasm of Purkinje like cells (white arrows) and cardiomyocytes (black arrows) (LSAB, IHC, Mayer's Hematoxylin counterstained, 40x magnification).

There was no correlation between percentage of Gal-3 expression and age as well as weight of normal dogs.

 Table 5: The correlations between percentage of Gal-3 expression and age and

 weight of normal dogs

Parameters	r	P-value
Age	-0.179	0.621
Weight	0.186	0.606

The significant correlation was assessed by Pearson's correlation at p < 0.05.

r = Pearson's correlation coefficient

There was statistically significant positive correlation (r = 0.821) between percentage of fibrosis area and percentage of Gal-3 expression of entire population (p < 0.01) (Fig. 13).



Figure 13: The correlation between percentage of fibrosis area and percentage of Gal-3 expression of entire population.

Part II: Determination of plasma Gal-3

Signalment

Forty six client owned dogs presented at the Small Animal Hospital, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University were selected into this study and divided into normal (n = 19) and DMVD groups (n = 27). Nineteen dogs in normal group included thirteen females (Female = 5; Female spay = 8) and six males (Male = 2; Male castrate = 4). Breeds of dogs were Poodle (n = 7), Shih-Tzu (n = 2), Miniature pincher (n = 2), Yorkshire terrier (n = 2), Chihuahua (n = 1), Pekingese (n = 1) and mixed breed (n = 4). Twenty seven dogs in DMVD group included fourteen females (Female = 5; Female spay = 9) and thirteen males (Male = 6; Male castrate = 7). Breeds of dogs were Poodle (n = 12), Pomeranian (n = 3), Cavalier King Charles spaniel (n = 2), Chihuahua (n = 2), Shih-Tzu (n = 2), Schnauzer (n = 1), Miniature pincher (n = 1) and mixed breed (n = 4). All dogs had no other systemic disease such as hepatic diseases, kidney diseases or neoplasia. Dogs in DMVD group were newly diagnosed and had not been received cardiovascular medicine. Both groups did not receive any medicine at least one month before study.

Age of DMVD group was significantly older than normal group (p < 0.01). Weight between normal and DMVD groups was not statistically different.

Group	N	Male	Female	Age (years)	Weight (kg)
Normal	19	6	13	8.42 ± 2.06	5.64 ± 2.73
DMVD	27	13	14	11.41 ± 2.63 [*]	5.17 ± 2.01

Table 6: Signalment data of normal and DMVD groups (mean ± SD)

The significant difference was assessed by independent T test.

Indicate statistically different at p < 0.01 between normal and DMVD group.

History taking

History data was noted by owner interview, 48.15% (14/27) of dogs in DMVD group had clinical signs of CHF defined as stage C and the other 51.85% of dogs (13/27) had no clinical sign of CHF defined as stage B2. Clinical signs were noted by include cough (13/13; 100%), exercise intolerance (10/13; 76.92%) and dyspnea (1/13; 7.69%).

Clinical signs	DMVD group (n = 27)		
	Stage B2 (n = 14)	Stage C (n = 13)	
Cough		13/13 (100%)	
Exercise intolerance		10/13 (76.92%)	
Dyspnea		1/13 (7.69%)	

Table 7: History taking data of DMVD group

Physical examination

Abnormalities from physical examination in DMVD group at the first day of disease diagnosis included systolic heart murmur (27/27; 100%), crackle lung sound (5/27; 18.52%), increased lung sound (12/27; 44.44%), pale pink mucous membrane (5/27; 18.52%), tachypnea (6/27; 22.22%), dyspnea (2/27; 7.41%) and abdominal distention (2/27; 7.41%).

 Table 8: Physical examination data of DMVD group

PE	DMVD group (n = 27)
Systolic heart murmur	27/27 (100%)
Increased lung sound	12/27 (44.44%)
Tachypnea	6/27 (22.22%)
Pale pink mucous membrane	5/27 (18.52%)
Crackle lung sound	5/27 (18.52%)
Dyspnea	2/27 (7.41%)
Abdominal distention	2/27 (7.41%)

Complete blood count and blood chemistry profiles

Complete blood count (CBC) profiles

The data of complete blood count profiles of normal and DMVD groups were presented as mean \pm SD (Table 9). Red blood cell count, hematocrit and hemoglobin in control group were significantly higher than DMVD group (p < 0.05). Platelets count in normal group was not significantly different compared to DMVD group. There were no significant difference in white blood cell count, neutrophil, eosinophil, basophil, lymphocyte and monocyte number between normal and DMVD groups. All means of CBC value in normal and DMVD groups were within normal limit.

Parameter	Unit	Normal	Normal group	DMVD group	P-
		value	(n=19)	(n=27)	value
RBC	x10 ⁶	5.5-8.5	7.37 ± 0.78	6.46 ± 1.28	* 0.006 [*]
	cell/µl				
Hematocrit	%	37.0-55.0	51.74 ± 5.82	46.67 ± 8.08	°.024
Hemoglobin	g/dL	12.0-18.0	16.54 ± 1.83	14.61 ± 2.68	* 0.009 [*]
Platelet	x10 ³	200-500	384.58 ± 174.56	359.56 ± 151.55	0.596
	cell/µl				
WBC	x10 ³	6.0-17.0	10,066.32 ±	12,031.48 ±	0.230
	cell/µl		3,278.40	6,456.45	
Neutrophil	cell/µl	3,000-	7,471.45 ±	8,941 ± 6,254.67	0.345
		11,500	2,773.04		
Eosinophil	cell/µl CH	1,000-1,250	495.92 ± 397.23	297.30 ± 189.29	0.093
Basophil	cell/µl	0-100	80.7 ± 13.50	65.98 ± 22.67	0.369
Lymphocyte	cell/µl	1,000-4,800	1,409.15 ±	1,682.33 ±	0.172
			423.76	852.54	
Monocyte	cell/µl	180-1,350	714.15 ± 374.80	847.01 ± 469.37	0.317

 Table 9: Complete blood count profiles of normal and DMVD groups (mean ± SD)

The significant difference was assessed by independent T test.

^a Normal reference value from Manual of Small Animal Emergency and Critical Care Medicine (Douglass et al., 2005).

Indicate statistically difference at p < 0.05 between normal and DMVD groups.

Blood chemistry profiles

The data of blood chemistry profiles of normal and DMVD groups were presented as mean \pm SD (Table 10). There were no significant difference in plasma ALT, ALP and creatinine between normal and DMVD group. However, plasma BUN in DMVD group was significantly higher than normal group (p < 0.05). All means of blood chemistry value in normal and DMVD groups were within normal limit.

Parameter	Unit	Normal value	Normal group (n=19)	DMVD group (n=27)	P-value
ALT	IU/L	5-60	53.26 ± 31.22	46.44 ± 28.67	0.436
ALP	IU/L	10-150	77.63 ± 61.25	74.79 ± 51.79	0.865
BUN	mg/dL	7-27	13.72 ± 3.72	19.22 ± 9.87	0.025
Creatinine	mg/dL	0.4-1.8	0.77 ± 0.17	0.81 ± 0.23	0.536

 Table 10: Blood chemistry profiles of normal and DMVD group (mean ± SD)

The significant difference was assessed by independent T test.

^a Normal reference value from Manual of Small Animal Emergency and Critical Care Medicine (Douglass et al., 2005).

indicate statistically significant difference at p < 0.05 between normal and DMVD groups.

Thoracic radiography

Twenty two of 27 dogs in DMVD group (81.48%) were diagnosed cardiomegaly (VHS > 10.7) (Saunders et al., 2013) with left atrium enlargement. From 22 dogs with cardiomegaly, 11 dogs (50%) had pulmonary edema. All dogs in normal group had no abnormality on thoracic radiograph.

Echocardiography

Severity of mitral valve regurgitation (MR) in DMVD dogs was mild (37.04%; 10/27), moderate (29.63%; 8/27) and severe (33.33%; 9/27). Echocardiographic data of normal and DMVD groups were presented as mean \pm SD showed in table 11. Percentage of fractional shortening in normal group was significantly lower than DMVD group (p < 0.01). Dogs in DMVD group had left atrium larger than dogs in normal group (p < 0.05). Moreover, ratio of left atrium to aorta of dogs in DMVD group was significantly higher than normal group (p < 0.01). Other echocardiographic indices included interventricular septal thickness during diastole and systole, left ventricular end diastolic diameter, left ventricular end systole and aorta dimension were not statistically different between normal and DMVD groups.

Parameter	Normal	DMVD	P-value
Septum-d index	1.33 ± 0.52	1.5 ± 0.59	0.314
LV chamber-d index	4.43 ± 1.54	5.30 ± 1.68	0.081
LV wall-d index	1.21 ± 0.46	1.41 ± 0.56	0.215
Septum-s index	1.76 ± 0.68	2.26 ± 0.95	0.057
LV chamber-s index	2.63 ± 0.75	2.76 ± 0.93	0.626
LV wall-s index	1.95 ± 1.01	2.28 ± 0.89	0.249
% FS	38.41 ± 11.71	47.33 ± 8.98	0.005**
Aorta index	2.25 ± 0.80	2.51 ± 0.97	0.335
LA index	3.31 ± 1.23	4.11 ± 1.53	0.030*
LA/Ao	1.39 ± 0.21	1.62 ± 0.25	0.002**

Table 11: Echocardiographic data of normal and DMVD group (Mean \pm SD)

The significant difference was assessed by independent T test.

*

Indicate statistically difference at p < 0.01 between normal and DMVD groups.

Indicate statistically difference at p < 0.05 between normal and DMVD groups.

Plasma Gal-3 concentration

Validation of ELISA test kit was performed by in-house laboratory. Linearity and parallelism were determined using spiked plasma samples and 5 different manufacturer standard concentrations. Average recovery for canine Gal-3 ELISA test was 92.50%. Intra-assay coefficient of variance was 2.54 % for canine Gal-3 ELISA test. Plasma Gal-3 concentration was non-parametric data and expressed as ng/ml in table 10. The median of plasma Gal-3 concentration in DMVD group was significantly higher than normal group (p < 0.01). Cut-off value of plasma Gal-3 concentration in canine estimated by receiver operating characteristics curve (ROC) was 0.75 ng/ml (Fig. 16). 88.89% of DMVD dogs (24/27) had plasma Gal-3 level above normal cut-off value and 84.21% of normal dogs (16/19) had plasma Gal-3 level under normal cutoff value. Grey zone of plasma Gal-3 concentration was between 0.62-1.05 ng/ml. Dogs that had plasma Gal-3 concentration lower 0.62 ng/ml considered as negative for cardiac fibrosis while dogs that had plasma Gal-3 concentration over 1.05 ng/ml considered as positive for cardiac fibrosis.

ุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Table 12: Plasma Gal-3 concentration of normal and DMVD groups (median; 25th and 75th percentile)

Group	Gal-3 (ng/ml)
Normal (n=19)	0.420; 0.271-0.630
DMVD (n=27)	* 1.498; 0.874-2.360

The significant difference was assessed by Mann-Whitney U test.

Indicate statistically different at p < 0.01 between normal and DMVD groups.



Figure 14: Boxplot of plasma Gal-3 concentration in normal and DMVD groups. Median value was represented as line within box. The 25th and 75th percentile value was represented as the limits of box. The outlier value (value that > 1.5 interquartile) were showed as stars.



Figure 15: Scatter plot of plasma Gal-3 concentration in normal and DMVD groups. Median value was represented as line.



Figure 16: Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. As seen from the ROC curves, the maximum value of sensitivity and specificity was 0.75 ng/ml (sensitivity 0.889, specificity 0.842). It was defined as the optimal cut-off value. Area under curve was 0.928.

There was no correlation between Gal-3 concentration and age as well as weight of normal dogs.

Table 13: The correlations between plasma Gal-3 concentration and age and weightof normal dogs

Parameters	r	P-value
Age	-0.188	0.442
Weight	0.128	0.601

The significant correlation was assessed by Spearman's rank correlation at p < 0.05.

r = Spearman's rho

There was no statistical correlation between plasma Gal-3 concentration and echocardiographic indices including interventricular septal thickness during diastole and systole, left ventricular end diastolic diameter, left ventricular end systolic diameter, wall thickness of left ventricular free wall during diastole and systole, aorta, left atrium, percentage of fractional shortening and ratio of left atrium to aorta of entire population.

 Table 14: The correlations between plasma Gal-3 concentration and

 echocardiographic indices of entire population

Parameters	r	P-value
Septum-d index	-0.022	0.883
LV chamber-d index	0.109	0.472
LV wall-d index	0.108	0.474
Septum-s index	0.152	0.314
LV chamber-s index	-0.074	0.627
LV wall-s index	0.133	0.377
%FS	0.288	0.146
Aorta index	0.013	0.932
LA index	0.160	0.289
LA/Ao	0.202	0.312

The significant correlation was assessed by Spearman's rank correlation at p < 0.05.

r = Spearman's rho

CHAPTER V DISCUSSION

Part I: Histopathology

Signalment

Degenerative mitral valve disease (DMVD) is the most common acquired cardiac disease in adult small to medium sized breed dogs. The prevalence of DMVD is age related (Borgarelli and Buchanan, 2012). To reduce effect of age and weight on cardiac fibrosis and Gal-3 expression in cardiac muscles, dogs included in 2 study groups were aged and sized match. Age of dogs affected with DMVD in the present study varied from 9-20 years old. Average age of DMVD dogs was statistically significant older than normal dogs. Although, age between normal and DMVD groups was statistically different, it was considered clinically insignificant. All dogs were categorized as aging dogs. Weight of normal and DMVD groups was not statistically different. All dogs were small breeds and weight less than 15 kg. Most dogs in DMVD group were died from cardiorespiratory failure resulting from DMVD.

Cardiac fibrosis

DMVD is a progressive disease which can cause valve regurgitation and cardiac remodeling secondary to volume overload (Haggstrom et al., 2009). Cardiac fibrosis is one of pathological changes resulting from cardiovascular disease including DMVD. This present study demonstrated cardiac fibrosis especially in sub-endocardium of DMVD dogs as same as previous study by Falk et al (2006). Percentage of fibrosis area in DMVD group was significantly higher than normal group in papillary muscles and LV walls similar to Falk et al. (2010). In addition, percentage of fibrosis area was higher in papillary muscles than LV walls. This is probably because the inner part of myocardium including papillary muscles and sub-endocardium has lower blood flow. An impaired coronary flow secondary to cardiovascular disease can cause ischemia leading to cardiac fibrosis in these areas (Falk et al., 2006). Cardiac fibrosis has been found secondary to aging change or cardiovascular disease in human patients. Healthy aging animal models such as rats and rabbits have cardiac fibrosis. Rats had increased collagen deposition from 5.5% in young hearts to 12% in aging heart (Biernacka and Frangogiannis, 2011). In human, collagen deposition was increased approximately 50% in aging hearts (Biernacka and Frangogiannis, 2011). Fibrosis in aging hearts was called as reactive fibrosis defied as an increased collagen deposition without cardiomyocyte loss. The present study demonstrated that normal dogs also had cardiac fibrosis which could be related to aging change (Masson et al., 2005; Falk et al., 2013). However, the correlation between age and cardiac fibrosis was not found in the present study. This probably because all dogs in the study were in the same age range. The area of cardiac fibrosis related to aging is usually small because it is associated to the reduction of collagen degradation not an increase of synthesis (Masson et al., 2005). On the other hand, the area of cardiac fibrosis associated to cardiac damage or cardiovascular problem like DMVD is often large because of fibrosis replacement called reparative fibrosis from an increased collagen production (Biernacka and Frangogiannis, 2011; Falk et al., 2013). As in this study, the fibrosis area was markedly larger in DMVD dogs than in normal aging dogs.

Gal-3 expression in cardiac muscles

Histopathology is a useful method to determine location of cardiac fibrosis lesions. The expression of Gal-3 by immunohistochemistry, fibrosis marker could demonstrate specific area of cardiac fibrosis. Gal-3 expression was localized in cytoplasm of the cardiomyocytes and larger cells beneath endocardium suspected as Purkinje cells. However, there was no study relationship between Gal-3 expression and Purkinje cells. Further study determining effects of cardiac fibrosis on conduction system like Purkinje cells and electrophysiology should be performed. Gal-3 expression was mainly found in sub-endocardium and fibrosis lesion confirmed by Masson trichome staining. This finding was similar to previous studies in mice (Yu et al., 2013) and rats (de Boer et al., 2009; de Boer et al., 2010). Percentage of Gal-3 expression was increased in DMVD group compared to normal group similar to previous study in mice (Yu et al., 2013). The Gal-3 expression was higher in papillary muscles than in LV walls. These results indicated role of Gal-3 protein involving pathophysiology of cardiac fibrosis as up-regulate.

In summary, DMVD dogs had more cardiac fibrosis lesion than normal aging dogs according to increasing area of collagen deposition and expression of fibrosis marker. Cardiac fibrosis and Gal-3 expression were found mainly in sub-endocardium. Moreover, Gal-3 expression was correlated well with cardiac fibrosis. The results of this study indicated that Gal-3 could be a potential marker for detecting fibrosis in cardiac muscles of DMVD dogs.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Part II: Determination of plasma Gal-3

Signalment

Both two study groups were age, weight and size matched. Unfortunately, average age of DMVD group was higher than normal group. However, dogs in both groups were in the same age range considered to be senior or aging dogs. Because DMVD is mostly found in small to medium breed dogs, to reduce the effect of breed variation to plasma Gal-3 concentration, this study selected only small breeds predisposition to DMVD into the study including Poodle, Pomeranian, Cavalier King Charles spaniel, Chihuahua, Shih-Tzu, Schnauzer and Miniature pincher. Poodle was the major breed population in the DMVD group. This finding is different from other studies which found that CKCS and Dachshund were the most breeds affected by DMVD (Haggstrom et al., 2004; Borgarelli and Buchanan, 2012; Parker and Kilroy-Glynn, 2012). Most studies suggested that DMVD are more frequent in male than female dogs. Male are developed this disease earlier than female (Haggstrom et al., 2004; Borgarelli and Buchanan, 2012; Parker and Kilroy-Glynn, 2012). However, this study showed that number of males (n = 13) affected by DMVD were approximately the same to females (n = 14).

History taking

According to American College of Veterinary Internal Medicine (ACVIM) consensus, 48.15% and 51.85% of dogs were defined as stage C and stage B2, respectively. Coughing was the most clinical signs presented in dogs affected with DMVD. Coughing in DMVD dogs may cause by dorsal compression and elevation of main stem bronchi secondary to left atrial enlargement and/or pulmonary edema (Disatian, 2010; Ferasin et al., 2013). Coughing in small breed dogs can cause by other diseases such as tracheal stenosis, bronchitis and other respiratory problems. Therefore, thoracic radiography should be done to differentiate cardiovascular from respiratory cough. Dogs with cough from respiratory diseases usually have normal cardiac size but coughing from cardiovascular diseases or a combination usually have cardiomegaly from thoracic radiograph (Guglielmini et al., 2009). In this study, coughing DMVD dogs were presented with cardiomegaly secondary to elevation of main stem bronchi and/or pulmonary edema.

Physical examination

All dogs in DMVD group showed systolic heart murmur from physical examination resulted from mitral valve regurgitation. Dogs in stage C had increased lung sound or crackle lung sound resulting from pulmonary edema which can be determined by thoracic radiography (Ploysongsang et al., 1989). DMVD dogs with murmur heart sound with abnormal lung sound should be performed thoracic radiography to rule out respiratory problems such as pulmonary fibrosis that may interfere plasma Gal-3 concentration (Koca et al., 2014) and confirm mitral valve regurgitation by echocardiography.

Complete blood count and blood chemistry profiles

Blood profiles including CBC and blood chemistry in this study were evaluated to rule out other systemic diseases such as blood parasite, hepatic disease or kidney disease. These diseases are common in aging dogs and may affect plasma Gal-3 concentration. Means of CBCs in normal and DMVD groups were in the normal limit. However, means of RBCs, hematocrit and hemoglobin of DMVD group were statistically lower than normal group. Reduction of RBCs, hematocrit and hemoglobin in DMVD can be caused by a reduction in erythropoietin (EPO) production resulted from CHF induced chronic renal insufficiency or an increase of cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 from damaged cardiac muscles interfering EPO activities (Silverberg et al., 2005). DMVD dogs in this study had normal renal indicator value. However, subclinical renal insufficiency secondary to chronic hemodynamic disturbance should be concerned. The EPO level and activity should be determined to confirm this hypothesis.

Blood chemistry profiles including BUN, creatinine, ALT and ALP were evaluated to rule out kidney disease and hepatic disease. Blood chemistry profiles in normal and DMVD groups were in the normal limit. However, plasma BUN in DMVD group was statistically higher than normal group. This result suggests an altered renal function which is probably due to a decrease in cardiac output (Nicolle et al., 2007). This result is similar to study of Nicolle et al. (2007) which found an increase of BUN but not creatinine in dogs affected with DMVD.

Thoracic radiography

Thoracic radiography is a useful diagnostic method for evaluating cardiac size and shape, abnormality of lung and blood vessels. Most DMVD dogs in this study were presented with cardiomegaly defined as vertebral heart score (VHS) > 9.7 \pm 0.5 (Jepsen-Grant et al., 2013) and left atrium enlargement. CHF dogs or DMVD dogs in stage C had cardiomegaly with pulmonary edema. These abnormalities resulted from cardiac remodeling and cardiac volume overload secondary to mitral valve regurgitation.

Echocardiography

งกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Echocardiography is a useful method to detect DMVD dogs especially in early stage cases with no clinical sign of CHF (Haggstrom et al., 2004). Two-dimensional and M-mode echocardiography are valuable and non-invasive procedures provided information of mitral valve lesions, severity of mitral valve regurgitation, cardiac function and cardiac remodeling (Haggstrom et al., 2004; Boswood, 2008; Disatian, 2010). All dogs in DMVD group had mitral valve leaflet thickening with or without valve prolapse. The numbers of dogs with mild, moderate and severe MR were approximately same proportion. Some dogs in this study showed left atrium enlargement without left ventricular enlargement because the left atrial wall is thinner than the left ventricular wall so it can dilate easier than left ventricular wall. Fractional shortening was used to evaluate systolic function of myocardium. The present study showed an increased percentage of fractional shortening in dogs with DMVD compared to normal dogs. This result is similar to previous human studies (Chetboul and Tissier, 2012; Suzuki et al., 2013). DMVD causes volume overload and increased wall stretch. To maintain normal stroke volume, increased stretch of left ventricular wall causes an increase of cardiac contraction according to Frank starling law (Nakamura et al., 2014).

Plasma Gal-3 concentration

To reduce factors affecting plasma Gal-3 concentration, all dogs included into the study were excluded from hepatic, renal diseases or neoplasia. No medicine was given at least a month prior blood collection.

Plasma Gal-3 concentration in DMVD group was statistically higher than normal group similar to studies in humans with congestive heart failure from cardiovascular disease (Milting et al., 2008; Lok et al., 2010; Beiras-Fernandez et al., 2013). Normal cut-off value of plasma Gal-3 concentration in this study was 0.75 ng/ml evaluated by receiver operating characteristics curve (ROC). While normal cutoff value of Gal-3 in humans is 17.7 ng/ml (Lok et al., 2010). This result indicated that dogs had lower level of plasma Gal-3 concentration than human. 88.89% of DMVD dogs (24/27) had plasma Gal-3 level above normal cut-off value and 84.21% of normal dogs (16/19) had plasma Gal-3 level under normal cut-off value. Area under curve of this study was 0.928 near 1 indicated that it can be used as best forecasting (Marzban, 2004). Therefore, 0.75 ng/ml can be used as a reliable cut-off value to differentiate dogs without cardiac fibrosis from DMVD dogs with cardiac fibrosis. However, 15.79% of normal dogs (3/19) had plasma Gal-3 level below cut-off value. Grey zone of plasma Gal-3 concentration was between 0.62-1.05 ng/ml. All three DMVD dogs that had plasma Gal-3 concentration below the cut-off value were in stage B2 suggesting that these dogs may not develop cardiac fibrosis yet. Human studies indicated that Gal-3 level was increased along with cardiovascular disease progression and associated with diseased severity (Lopez-Andres et al., 2012; van der Velde et al., 2013). Moreover, Gal-3 concentration can be used as a predictor for an on-set of CHF in asymptomatic patients (Ho et al., 2012; van der Velde et al., 2013). Higher level of Gal-3 was related with high incidence of heart failure and mortality in human patients (Lok et al., 2010; de Boer et al., 2011; Ho et al., 2012). The study determining the relationship between Gal-3 level and disease progression should be performed to prove a role of Gal-3 as a predictor and a prognosis marker in DMVD Plasma Gal-3 concentration was not statistically correlated with dogs. echocardiographic indices similar to human beings studies (Milting et al., 2008; Hrynchyshyn et al., 2013). Because cardiac fibrosis can cause cardiac stiffness and diastolic dysfunction, an evaluation of cardiac diastolic function should be performed (Ichihara et al., 2001). The present study did not determine the diastolic function of the heart which might be the limitation. However, the echocardiography is not a sensitive and an effective tool for detecting cardiac fibrosis (Falk et al., 2010). On another word, cardiac structure assessed from echocardiography may not be changed, even though cardiac fibrosis has already developed. Therefore, biomarker such as Gal-3 might be potential indicator for detecting cardiac fibrosis in alive subjects.

The limitation of this study firstly was an application of monoclonal mouse antibody against human galectin-3 in canine cardiac tissue by immunohistochemistry. However, Gal-3 expression both in canine mammary adenoma and canine splenic hemangiosarcoma were previously reported (Choi et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 2007). Moreover, protein sequencing of canine Gal-3 is highly homologous to human Gal-3 in both structure and amino acid sequence (Dumic et al., 2006; Poland et al., 2011). Thus, it is reasonable to use this antibody in the present study. Secondary, an evaluation of plasma Gal-3 concentration was performed only one time for each dog. Nowadays, there is lack information of pharmacokinetic of Gal-3 in dogs. The study in mice indicated that half-life (T1/2) of Gal-3 was 3 hour in serum and 4.3 hour of blood cells (John et al., 2003). Serial measurement of plasma Gal-3 concentration in human is stable (Nilsson et al., 2014). Therefore, single test of plasma Gal-3 concentration would be sufficient for this study. Thirdly, the evaluation of Gal-3 expression in myocardium and Gal-3 concentration in circulation was not performed in the same dogs, so it was not possible to evaluate the relationship between Gal-3 expression in myocardium and Gal-3 concentration in circulation.

In conclusion, dogs with naturally occurring DMVD developed cardiac fibrosis more than the age and size matched normal dogs. An increase of Gal-3 expression was related to an increase area of cardiac fibrosis in DMVD dogs. Plasma Gal-3 concentration was higher in DMVD dogs than normal dogs in agreement with Gal-3 expression in cardiac muscles. Based on the result of this study, Gal-3 might be a potential candidate of cardiac fibrosis markers in dogs with DMVD.

REFERENCES

- Arndt JW, Reynolds CA, Singletary GE, Connolly JM, Levy RJ and Oyama MA. 2009. Serum Serotonin Concentrations in Dogs with Degenerative Mitral Valve Disease. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine. 23(6): 1208-1213.
- Atkins C, Bonagura J, Ettinger S, Fox P, Gordon S, Haggstrom J, Hamlin R, Keene B, Luis-Fuentes V and Stepien R. 2009. Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Canine Chronic Valvular Heart Disease. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine. 23(6): 1142-1150.
- Atkins CE and Haggstrom J. 2012. Pharmacologic management of myxomatous mitral valve disease in dogs. Journal of Veterinary Cardiology. 14(1): 165-184.
- Beiras-Fernandez A, Weis F, Rothkopf J, Kaczmarek I, Ledderose C, Dick A, Keller T, Beiras A and Kreth S. 2013. Local expression of myocardial galectin-3 does not correlate with its serum levels in patients undergoing heart transplantation. Ann Transplant. 18: 643-650.
- Beltrami CA, Finato N, Rocco M, Feruglio GA, Puricelli C, Cigola E, Quaini F, Sonnenblick EH, Olivetti G and Anversa P. 1994. Structural basis of end-stage failure in ischemic cardiomyopathy in humans. Circulation. 89(1): 151-163.
- Bernay F, Bland JM, Haggstrom J, Baduel L, Combes B, Lopez A and Kaltsatos V. 2010. Efficacy of spironolactone on survival in dogs with naturally occurring mitral regurgitation caused by myxomatous mitral valve disease. J Vet Intern Med. 24(2): 331-341.
- Biernacka A and Frangogiannis NG. 2011. Aging and Cardiac Fibrosis. Aging Dis. 2(2): 158-173.
- Borgarelli M and Buchanan JW. 2012. Historical review, epidemiology and natural history of degenerative mitral valve disease. J Vet Cardiol. 14(1): 93-101.
- Boswood A. 2008. Valvular heart disease in the dog. Veterinary Focus. 18(3): 25-31.
- Boswood A. 2009. Biomarkers in cardiovascular disease: Beyond natriuretic peptides. Journal of Veterinary Cardiology. 11, Supplement 1(0): S23-S32.
- Burlew BS and Weber KT. 2002. Cardiac Fibrosis as a Cause of Diastolic Dysfunction. Herz. 27(2): 92-98.
- Chetboul V and Tissier R. 2012. Echocardiographic assessment of canine degenerative mitral valve disease. Journal of Veterinary Cardiology. 14(1): 127-148.
- Choi YK, Hong SH, Kim BH, Kim HC, Woo HJ and Kim DY. 2004. Immunohistochemical expression of galectin-3 in canine mammary tumours. J Comp Pathol. 131(2-3): 242-245.
- Cohn JN, Ferrari R and Sharpe N. 2000. Cardiac remodeling—concepts and clinical implications: a consensus paper from an international forum on cardiac remodeling. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 35(3): 569-582.
- de Boer R, Yu L and van Veldhuisen D. 2010. Galectin-3 in Cardiac Remodeling and Heart Failure. Current Heart Failure Reports. 7(1): 1-8.
- de Boer RA, Lok DJ, Jaarsma T, van der Meer P, Voors AA, Hillege HL and van Veldhuisen DJ. 2011. Predictive value of plasma galectin-3 levels in heart failure with reduced and preserved ejection fraction. Ann Med. 43(1): 60-68.
- de Boer RA, Voors AA, Muntendam P, van Gilst WH and van Veldhuisen DJ. 2009. Galectin-3: a novel mediator of heart failure development and progression. Eur J Heart Fail. 11(9): 811-817.
- de Jong S, van Veen TAB, de Bakker JMT and van Rijen HVM. 2012. Monitoring cardiac fibrosis: a technical challenge. Netherlands Heart Journal. 20(1): 44-48.
- de Madron E, King JN, Strehlau G and White RV. 2011. Survival and echocardiographic data in dogs with congestive heart failure caused by mitral valve disease and treated by multiple drugs: a retrospective study of 21 cases. Can Vet J. 52(11): 1219-1225.
- Disatian S. 2010. Myxomatous Degenerative Mitral Valve Disease: An Update. Thai J. Vet. Med. 40(2): 151-157.
- Dumic J, Dabelic S and Flogel M. 2006. Galectin-3: an open-ended story. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1760(4): 616-635.
- Falk T, Jönsson L, Olsen LH and Pedersen HD. 2006. Arteriosclerotic changes in the myocardium, lung, and kidney in dogs with chronic congestive heart failure

and myxomatous mitral valve disease. Cardiovascular Pathology. 15(4): 185-193.

- Falk T, Jönsson L, Olsen LH, Tarnow I and Pedersen HD. 2010. Associations between cardiac pathology and clinical, echocardiographic and electrocardiographic findings in dogs with chronic congestive heart failure. The Veterinary Journal. 185(1): 68-74.
- Falk T, Ljungvall I, Zois NE, Höglund K, Olsen LH, Pedersen HD and Häggström J. 2013.
 Cardiac Troponin-I Concentration, Myocardial Arteriosclerosis, and Fibrosis in
 Dogs with Congestive Heart Failure because of Myxomatous Mitral Valve
 Disease. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine. 27(3): 500-506.
- Fan D, Takawale A, Lee J and Kassiri Z. 2012. Cardiac fibroblasts, fibrosis and extracellular matrix remodeling in heart disease. Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair. 5(1): 15.
- Ferasin L, Crews L, Biller DS, Lamb KE and Borgarelli M. 2013. Risk Factors for Coughing in Dogs with Naturally Acquired Myxomatous Mitral Valve Disease. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine. 27(2): 286-292.
- Griffiths LG, Orton EC and Boon JA. 2004. Evaluation of techniques and outcomes of mitral valve repair in dogs. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association. 224(12): 1941-1945.
- Guglielmini C, Diana A, Pietra M, Di Tommaso M and Cipone M. 2009. Use of the vertebral heart score in coughing dogs with chronic degenerative mitral valve disease. The Journal of veterinary medical science/the Japanese Society of Veterinary Science. 71(1): 9-13.
- Haddad Kashani H, Moshkdanian G, Atlasi MA, Taherian AA, Naderian H and Nikzad H. 2013. Expression of galectin-3 as a testis inflammatory marker in vasectomised mice. Cell J. 15(1): 11-18.
- Haggstrom J, Duelund Pedersen H and Kvart C. 2004. New insights into degenerative mitral valve disease in dogs. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract. 34(5): 1209-1226, vii-viii.

- Haggstrom J, Hoglund K and Borgarelli M. 2009. An update on treatment and prognostic indicators in canine myxomatous mitral valve disease. J Small Anim Pract. 50 Suppl 1: 25-33.
- Haudek KC, Spronk KJ, Voss PG, Patterson RJ, Wang JL and Arnoys EJ. 2010. Dynamics of galectin-3 in the nucleus and cytoplasm. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1800(2): 181-189.
- Hayek E, Gring CN and Griffin BP. 2005. Mitral valve prolapse. The Lancet. 365(9458): 507-518.
- Hezzell MJ, Boswood A, Chang YM, Moonarmart W and Elliott J. 2012. Associations among serum N-terminal procollagen type III concentration, urinary aldosterone-to-creatinine ratio, and ventricular remodeling in dogs with myxomatous mitral valve disease. Am J Vet Res. 73(11): 1765-1774.
- Ho JE, Liu C, Lyass A, Courchesne P, Pencina MJ, Vasan RS, Larson MG and Levy D. 2012. Galectin-3, a marker of cardiac fibrosis, predicts incident heart failure in the community. J Am Coll Cardiol. 60(14): 1249-1256.
- Hofman FM and Taylor CR. 2001. Immunohistochemistry. In: Current Protocols in Immunology. ed. (ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Hrynchyshyn N, Jourdain P, Desnos M, Diebold B and Funck F. 2013. Galectin-3: A new biomarker for the diagnosis, analysis and prognosis of acute and chronic heart failure. Archives of Cardiovascular Diseases. 106(10): 541-546.
- Hundae A and McCullough PA. 2014. Cardiac and renal fibrosis in chronic cardiorenal syndromes. Nephron Clin Pract. 127(1-4): 106-112.
- Huysman J, Vliegen H, Van der Laarse A and Eulderink F. 1989. Changes in nonmyocyte tissue composition associated with pressure overload of hypertrophic human hearts. Pathology-Research and Practice. 184(6): 577-581.
- Ichihara S, Senbonmatsu T, Price E, Jr., Ichiki T, Gaffney FA and Inagami T. 2001. Angiotensin II type 2 receptor is essential for left ventricular hypertrophy and cardiac fibrosis in chronic angiotensin II-induced hypertension. Circulation. 104(3): 346-351.
- Inohara H, Akahani S and Raz A. 1998. Galectin-3 stimulates cell proliferation. Exp Cell Res. 245(2): 294-302.

- Jepsen-Grant K, Pollard RE and Johnson LR. 2013. VERTEBRAL HEART SCORES IN EIGHT DOG BREEDS. Veterinary Radiology & Ultrasound. 54(1): 3-8.
- John CM, Leffler H, Kahl-Knutsson B, Svensson I and Jarvis GA. 2003. Truncated galectin-3 inhibits tumor growth and metastasis in orthotopic nude mouse model of human breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 9(6): 2374-2383.
- Johnson KD, Glinskii OV, Mossine VV, Turk JR, Mawhinney TP, Anthony DC, Henry CJ, Huxley VH, Glinsky GV, Pienta KJ, Raz A and Glinsky VV. 2007. Galectin-3 as a potential therapeutic target in tumors arising from malignant endothelia. Neoplasia. 9(8): 662-670.
- Kim H, Kang T-y, Joo H-g and Shin T. 2006. Immunohistochemical localization of galectin-3 in boar testis and epididymis. Acta Histochemica. 108(6): 481-485.
- Kim J, Moon C, Ahn M, Joo HG, Jin JK and Shin T. 2009. Immunohistochemical localization of galectin-3 in the pig retina during postnatal development. Mol Vis. 15: 1971-1976.
- Kim M, Kim S, Kim H, Kim H, Joo H-G and Shin T. 2008. Immunohistochemical localization of galectin-3 in the reproductive organs of the cow. Acta Histochemica. 110(6): 473-480.
- Koca SS, Akbas F, Ozgen M, Yolbas S, Ilhan N, Gundogdu B and Isik A. 2014. Serum galectin-3 level in systemic sclerosis. Clinical rheumatology. 33(2): 215-220.
- Kong P, Christia P and Frangogiannis N. 2014. The pathogenesis of cardiac fibrosis. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences. 71(4): 549-574.
- Lijnen P and Petrov V. 2000. Induction of Cardiac Fibrosis by Aldosterone. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology. 32(6): 865-879.
- Linharattanaruksa P, Srisuwatanasagul S, Ponglowhapan S, Khalid M and Chatdarong K. 2014. Collagen and glycosaminoglycan profiles in the canine cervix during different stages of the estrous cycle and in open- and closed-cervix pyometra. J Vet Med Sci. 76(2): 197-203.
- Lok DA, Meer P, Porte PB-A, Lipsic E, Wijngaarden J, Hillege H and Veldhuisen D. 2010. Prognostic value of galectin-3, a novel marker of fibrosis, in patients with chronic heart failure: data from the DEAL-HF study. Clinical Research in Cardiology. 99(5): 323-328.

- Lopez-Andres N, Rossignol P, Iraqi W, Fay R, Nuee J, Ghio S, Cleland JG, Zannad F and Lacolley P. 2012. Association of galectin-3 and fibrosis markers with long-term cardiovascular outcomes in patients with heart failure, left ventricular dysfunction, and dyssynchrony: insights from the CARE-HF (Cardiac Resynchronization in Heart Failure) trial. Eur J Heart Fail. 14(1): 74-81.
- Mangklabruks T and Surachetpong SD. 2014. Plasma and platelet serotonin concentrations in healthy dogs and dogs with myxomatous mitral valve disease. Journal of Veterinary Cardiology. 16(3): 155-162.
- Marzban C. 2004. The ROC Curve and the Area under It as Performance Measures. Weather and Forecasting. 19(6): 1106-1114.
- Mason JW, Koch FH, Billingham ME and Winkle RA. 1978. Cardiac biopsy evidence for a cardiomyopathy associated with symptomatic mitral valve prolapse. The American Journal of Cardiology. 42(4): 557-562.
- Masson S, Latini R, Salio M and Fiordaliso F. 2005. Cardiac Fibrosis and Aging. In: Fibrogenesis: Cellular and Molecular Basis. ed. (ed.). Springer US. 97-103.
- Milting H, Ellinghaus P, Seewald M, Cakar H, Bohms B, Kassner A, Korfer R, Klein M, Krahn T, Kruska L, El Banayosy A and Kramer F. 2008. Plasma biomarkers of myocardial fibrosis and remodeling in terminal heart failure patients supported by mechanical circulatory support devices. J Heart Lung Transplant. 27(6): 589-596.
- Mochel JP, Peyrou M, Fink M, Strehlau G, Mohamed R, Giraudel JM, Ploeger B and Danhof M. 2013. Capturing the dynamics of systemic Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System (RAAS) peptides heightens the understanding of the effect of benazepril in dogs. J Vet Pharmacol Ther. 36(2): 174-180.
- Nakamura K, Osuga T, Morishita K, Suzuki S, Morita T, Yokoyama N, Ohta H, Yamasaki M and Takiguchi M. 2014. Prognostic Value of Left Atrial Function in Dogs with Chronic Mitral Valvular Heart Disease. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine. 28(6): 1746-1752.
- Nilsson U, Leffler H, Henderson N, Sethi T and Mackinnon A. 2014. Galactoside inhibitor of galectin-3 and its use for treating pulmonary fibrosis. Google Patents.

- Nio-Kobayashi J, Takahashi-Iwanaga H and Iwanaga T. 2009. Immunohistochemical localization of six galectin subtypes in the mouse digestive tract. J Histochem Cytochem. 57(1): 41-50.
- Nio J, Takahashi-Iwanaga H, Morimatsu M, Kon Y and Iwanaga T. 2006. Immunohistochemical and in situ hybridization analysis of galectin-3, a β -galactoside binding lectin, in the urinary system of adult mice. Histochemistry and Cell Biology. 126(1): 45-56.
- Oliveira MS, Muzzi RAL, Araújo RB, Muzzi LAL, Ferreira DF and Silva EF. 2014. Heart rate variability and arrhythmias evaluated with Holter in dogs with degenerative mitral valve disease. Arquivo Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária e Zootecnia. 66: 425-432.
- Oyama MA. 2009. Neurohormonal activation in canine degenerative mitral valve disease: implications on pathophysiology and treatment. J Small Anim Pract. 50 Suppl 1: 3-11.
- Park C, Choi S, Joo H-G, Ahn M, Taniguchi K and Shin T. 2012. Galectin-3 immunohistochemistry in the vomeronasal organ of the domestic pig, Sus scrofa. Acta Histochemica. 114(7): 713-718.
- Park JH, Chung HY, Kim M, Lee JH, Jung M and Ha H. 2014. Daumone fed late in life improves survival and reduces hepatic inflammation and fibrosis in mice. Aging Cell. 13(4): 709-718.
- Parker HG and Kilroy-Glynn P. 2012. Myxomatous mitral valve disease in dogs: Does size matter? Journal of Veterinary Cardiology. 14(1): 19-29.
- Passino C, Barison A, Vergaro G, Gabutti A, Borrelli C, Emdin M and Clerico A. 2014. Markers of fibrosis, inflammation, and remodeling pathways in heart failure. Clin Chim Acta.
- Pearlman E, Weber K, Janicki J, Pietra G and Fishman A. 1982. Muscle fiber orientation and connective tissue content in the hypertrophied human heart. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology. 46(2): 158-164.
- Pedersen HD and Haggstrom J. 2000. Mitral valve prolapse in the dog: a model of mitral valve prolapse in man. Cardiovasc Res. 47(2): 234-243.

- Ploysongsang Y, Michel RP, Rossi A, Zocchi L, Milic-Emili J and Staub NC. 1989. Early detection of pulmonary congestion and edema in dogs by using lung sounds. Vol. 66. In. 2061-2070.
- Poland PA, Rondanino C, Kinlough CL, Heimburg-Molinaro J, Arthur CM, Stowell SR, Smith DF and Hughey RP. 2011. Identification and Characterization of Endogenous Galectins Expressed in Madin Darby Canine Kidney Cells. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 286(8): 6780-6790.
- Rossi MA. 1998. Pathologic fibrosis and connective tissue matrix in left ventricular hypertrophy due to chronic arterial hypertension in humans. Journal of hypertension. 16(7): 1031-1041.
- Saunders AB, Gordon SG, Rector MH, DeMaster A, Jackson N, Clubb FJ, Fosgate GT and Miller MW. 2013. Bradyarrhythmias and Pacemaker Therapy in Dogs with Chagas Disease. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine. 27(4): 890-894.
- Schuller S, Valentin S, Remy B, Jespers P, Foulon S, Van Israel N, Clercx C and McEntee K. 2006. Analytical, physiologic, and clinical validation of a radioimmunoassay for measurement of procollagen type III amino terminal propeptide in serum and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid obtained from dogs. Am J Vet Res. 67(5): 749-755.
- Sharma UC, Pokharel S, van Brakel TJ, van Berlo JH, Cleutjens JP, Schroen B, Andre S, Crijns HJ, Gabius HJ, Maessen J and Pinto YM. 2004. Galectin-3 marks activated macrophages in failure-prone hypertrophied hearts and contributes to cardiac dysfunction. Circulation. 110(19): 3121-3128.
- Silverberg DS, Wexler D, Iaina A and Schwartz D. 2005. The Role of Anemia in the Progression of Congestive Heart Failure: Is There a Place for Erythropoietin and Intravenous Iron? Transfusion Alternatives in Transfusion Medicine. 6(3): 26-37.
- Struthers AD. 2004. The clinical implications of aldosterone escape in congestive heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail. 6(5): 539-545.
- Suzuki R, Matsumoto H, Teshima T and Koyama H. 2013. Clinical assessment of systolic myocardial deformations in dogs with chronic mitral valve

insufficiency using two-dimensional speckle-tracking echocardiography. Journal of Veterinary Cardiology. 15(1): 41-49.

- van der Velde AR, Gullestad L, Ueland T, Aukrust P, Guo Y, Adourian AS, Muntendam P, van Veldhuisen DJ and de Boer RA. 2013. Prognostic Value of Changes in Galectin-3 Levels Over Time in Patients with Heart Failure: Data from CORONA and COACH. Circulation: Heart Failure.
- Weber KT, Pick R, Silver MA, Moe GW, Janicki JS, Zucker IH and Armstrong PW. 1990. Fibrillar collagen and remodeling of dilated canine left ventricle. Circulation. 82(4): 1387-1401.
- Yu L, Ruifrok WP, Meissner M, Bos EM, van Goor H, Sanjabi B, van der Harst P, Pitt B, Goldstein IJ, Koerts JA, van Veldhuisen DJ, Bank RA, van Gilst WH, Sillje HH and de Boer RA. 2013. Genetic and pharmacological inhibition of galectin-3 prevents cardiac remodeling by interfering with myocardial fibrogenesis. Circ Heart Fail. 6(1): 107-117.

APPENDICES

No.	Name	Breed	Sex	Age (year)	Weight (kg)
1	คริสติน	French bulldog	F	7	8.5
2	วีออส	Poodle	F	13	4.5
3	จีจี	Shih-Tzu	Fs	7	5.9
4	พริตตี้	Chihuahua	F	7	3.6
5	เงินดอลล่าร์	Beagle	F	11	8.8
6	ຍູໂຈ	Poodle	М	7	6
7	ଶୁଶ୍ଚି	Shih-Tzu	Fs	14	6.1
8	ดีดี	Poodle	Fs	14	4.15
9	ไข่ไก่	Pomeranian	F	6.5	2.5
10	ลัคกี้	Poodle	F	8	5.3

Appendix A: Signalment in the normal dog specimens

Appendix B: Signalment in the DMVD dog specimens

No.	Name	Breed	Sex	Age (year)	Weight (kg)
1	หมูหวาน	Shih-Tzu	F	9	7.5
2	ลัคกี้	Poodle	F	11	5.6
3	มารวย	Poodle	เวิทยMลัย	20	3.8
4	ดาวเรื่อง	Poodle	Fs	11	8.2
5	Pepper	Schnauzer	М	10	9.1
6	ไวท์	Poodle	F	18	8
7	เป๋าฮื้อ	Poodle	М	13	8.6
8	จีจี	Shih-Tzu	F	9	5
9	Woopie	Mixed	F	11	8.8
10	หมี	Poodle	Мс	11	4.4
11	แก้ว	Poodle	Fs	14	3.8
12	ถุงเงิน	Shih-Tzu	Fs	17	6.5

No.	Name	Fibrosis ar	ea (%)	Gal-3 expres	sion (%)
		Papillary	LV walls	Papillary	LV walls
		muscles		muscles	
1	คริสติน	57.16	45.36	1.06	0.62
2	วืออส	32.73	31.44	0.61	0.04
3	จีจี	30.62	23.42	1.97	0.48
4	พริตตี้	36.37	34.04	2.07	0.63
5	เงินดอลล่าร์	35.92	27.46	1.02	0.78
6	ຍູໂร	26.69	23.23	1.42	1.23
7	ಕ್ಷಾ	30.84	20.32	1.49	1.04
8	ดีดี	39.23	22.17	0.68	0.18
9	ไข่ไก่	34.19	27.55	0.29	0.11
10	ลัคกี้	30.26	19.07	0.12	0.06

Appendix C: Percentage of Fibrosis area and Gal-3 expression in the normal dog specimens



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

No.	Name	Fibrosis ar	ea (%)	Gal-3 expres	sion (%)
		Papillary	LV walls	Papillary	LV walls
		muscles		muscles	
1	หมูหวาน	51.63	44.00	23.31	10.26
2	ลัคกี้	68.44	66.31	24.92	9.32
3	มารวย	67.95	55.66	22.90	17.58
4	ดาวเรื่อง	64.48	47.11	22.99	8.01
5	Pepper	73.63	41.45	29.32	14.05
6	ไวท์	62.24	44.37	28.09	13.06
7	เป๋าฮื้อ	66.66	59.95	30.04	18.15
8	จีจี	67.17	59.25	45.62	36.85
9	Woopie	73.02	65.26	29.84	13.43
10	หมี	66.05	49.85	34.94	31.78
11	แก้ว	65.68	47.82	21.65	19.23
12	ถุงเงิน	66.53	54.66	21.71	15.24

Appendix D: Percentage of Fibrosis area and Gal-3 expression in the DMVD dog specimens

จหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Chulalongkorn University

No.	Name	Breed	Sex	Age	Weight (kg)	Plasma Gal-3
				(year)		concentration
						(ng/ml)
1	อั่งเปา	Poodle	F	6	3.8	0.48
2	จินนี่	Mixed	Fs	8	9	0.36
3	ไวว่า	Poodle	F	6	3.7	0.24
4	หลินจือ	Poodle	F	13	7.5	0.19
5	เองเอง	Chihuahua	Мс	7	4.2	1.55
6	ผิงผิง	Shih-Tzu	I.F	9	5.8	0.44
7	ฮวนฮวน	Poodle	Мс	11	5.76	0.54
8	เบน	Miniature Pincher	М	8	5.7	0.36
9	โดเรม่อน	Shih-Tzu	Мс	7	6.9	0.63
10	อิจิ	Mixed	Мс	7	9	0.42
11	น้ำหวาน	Poodle	Fs	13	1.95	0.11
12	ริชชี่	Poodle	Fs	9	3.1	0.97
13	น้ำหอม	Yorkshire terrier	Fs	10	4.9	0.38
14	lucky	Poodle	Fs	9	4.5	0.37
15	ดอลล่าร์	Pekingese	Fs	8	6.1	0.47
16	แจ๊กกี้	Miniature Pincher	Fs	8	3.4	0.74
17	จินนี่	Mixed	Fs	7	13.5	1.05
18	ซูโย๊ะ	Mixed	М	7	5.6	0.11
19	เร็กซื่	Yorkshire terrier	F	7	2.8	0.27

Appendix E: Signalment and plasma Gal-3 concentration in the normal dogs

No.	Name	Breed	Sex	Age	Weight	Plasma Gal-3
				(year)	(kg)	concentration
						(ng/ml)
1	น้ำตาล	Poodle	Мс	10	5.5	2.14
2	เข่ออ้าย	CKS	F	12	5.5	2.70
3	ลูกชิ้น	Chihuahua	Мс	8	2.7	0.77
4	ยักษ์	Schnauzer	М	9	7.6	2.46
5	โก้	Mixed	Мс	16	4.3	2.34
6	เดซี่	CKS	Fs	5	9	1.32
7	ม่อน	Poodle	Fs	12	4.5	2.36
8	คากิ	Poodle	M	12	6.5	0.88
9	กระป๋อง	Pomeranian	М	11	2.2	1.82
10	ก๋วยจั๊บ	Shih-Tzu	М	11	4.9	1.38
11	น้ำตาล	Poodle	F	14	3.7	1.33
12	จีจี	Mixed	F	16	6.4	3.32
13	เต้าเจี้ยว	Poodle	М	15	4.1	0.62
14	มาร์ค	Miniature pincher	Мс	9	8	1.01
15	คาร์ฟู	Poodle	Fs	9	6.8	0.67
16	มันนี่	Mixed	Fs	13	9.6	1.50
17	กาก้า	Poodle	มห [ุ] ยวิท	10	3.5	2.63
18	กระปุก	Poodle	Fs	13	4.6	0.76
19	น้อยหน่า	Shih-Tzu	Fs	14	5.5	0.92
20	ป๊อปแป๊ป	Poodle	М	12	5.5	0.86
21	คิม	Pomeranian	Fs	10	2.84	1.72
22	น้ำฝน	Poodle	Fs	14	5.4	1.60
23	น้ำเงิน	Poodle	Мс	10	2.5	0.74
24	มาร์ค	Pomeranian	Мс	10	4.72	7.06
25	เลดี้	Chihuahua	F	8	2.3	0.87
26	แก้ว	Poodle	Fs	14	3.8	1.60
27	บะหมี่	Mixed	Мс	11	7.5	9.81

Appendix F: Signalment and plasma Gal-3 concentration in the DMVD dogs

, dogs
normal
the
.⊆
indices
<u>.</u>
idix G: Echocardiograph
Appen

LA/Ao	1.50	1.14	1.07	1.28	1.10	1.30	1.43	1.76	1.38	1.65	1.50	1.71	1.66
ΓA	4.34	2.06	3.32	2.55	3.50	3.12	2.60	2.98	2.64	2.23	6.62	4.39	3.65
Ao	2.55	1.80	3.11	1.99	3.17	2.40	1.82	1.70	1.91	1.36	3.64	2.58	2.20
FS	39.23	26.96	41.18	35.25	47.17	35.04	41.80	49.59	22.60	17.52	63.78	48.26	30.38
LVPWs	2.50	1.02	2.81	1.44	2.55	1.29	1.20	1.51	1.23	0.83	4.82	2.77	1.63
LVIDs	3.13	1.67	2.46	2.27	2.31	2.88	2.57	2.35	2.36	2.23	3.23	3.16	3.08
IVSs	2.03	1.11	2.46	1.23	2.00	1.55	1.44	1.54	0.91	1.06	3.28	2.81	1.80
LVPWd	1.71	0.86	1.95	0.91	1.69	0.95	0.83	0.74	0.87	0.76	1.74	1.42	1.20
LVIDd	5.16	2.41	4.16	3.49	4.36	4.43	4.43	4.67	3.06	2.70	8.92	6.10	4.43
IVSd	1.66	0.82	1.62	0.91	1.31	1.02	1.09	1.23	0.72	0.81	2.31	2.00	1.45
Name	อั่งเปา	จินนี่	ricul	หลินจือ	ເອຈເອຈ	ନ୍ତ୍ର ଜୁନ୍ତୁ ଜୁନ୍ତୁ	ยานฮาน	າດາ	โดเรม่อน	0 9 9	น้ำหวาน	દેશનું	น้ำหอม
No.	1	2	6	4	5	9	7	ω	6	10	11	12	13

LA/Ao	1.29	1.26	1.23	1.47	1.16	1.53	
P	3.18	2.64	4.41	1.06	2.73	4.93	
Ao	2.47	2.11	3.62	1.56	2.36	0.32	
FS	42.01	38.46	22.78	36.51	56.52	34.66	
LVPWs	2.20	1.36	2.29	0.52	2.07	3.07	
LVIDs	2.64	2.05	4.50	1.67	1.57	3.86	
IVSs	1.62	1.44	2.00	0.71	1.84	2.68	
LVPWd	1.18	1.03	1.59	0.47	1.04	2.11	รถ GK
PUIDD	4.58	3.34	5.79	2.63	3.61	5.93	
IVSd	1.42	1.16	1.79	0.50	1.16	2.36	
Name	lucky	ดอลล่าร์	แจ๊กกี	จินนี่	រុះ ខេត្ត ខេត្ត	េរីវាសី	
No.	14	15	16	17	18	19	

posterior wall thickness at end-diastole; IVSs, interventricular septal thickness at end-systole; LVIDs, left ventricular end-systole IVSd, interventricular septal thickness at end-diastole; LVIDd, left ventricular end-diastolic dimension; LVPWd, left ventricular dimension; LVPWs, left ventricular posterior wall thickness at end-systole; FS, fractional shortening; Ao, aortic root dimension; LA, left atrium dimension; LA/Ao, left atrial to aortic root ratio 75

	Name	IVSd	PUIDD	LVPWd	IVSs	LVIDs	LVPWs	FS	Ao	P	LA/Ao	MR
°	น้ำตาล	1.44	3.44	1.55	2.78	2.05	2.27	40.00	2.27	3.78	1.67	mild
_	ู้ข่ออ้าย	1.24	5.05	1.24	1.78	2.91	1.85	42.68	3.36	2.78	1.20	mild
	ลูกชิ้น	2.11	7.70	2.07	3.48	3.59	3.37	53.62	3.70	6.33	1.71	moderate
	ยักษ์	1.01	3.58	1.14	1.75	1.83	1.50	48.85	1.53	3.00	1.96	mild
	ไก้	1.33	7.72	1.30	2.47	4.00	2.37	48.30	2.72	6.00	2.21	severe
	เคซี่	0.93	2.74	0.88	1.04	1.91	1.20	30.53	1.74	2.58	1.48	moderate - severe
	ม่อน	1.71	4.42	1.58	3.87	1.91	2.22	56.82	2.62	3.73	1.42	moderate
'	คากิ	1.26	4.09	1.22	1.66	2.72	1.86	33.33	2.35	3.02	1.28	mild
	กระป๋อง	2.73	6.32	3.00	4.18	2.00	5.32	68.29	4.18	5.82	1.40	moderate
	ก้วยจึบ	1.45	3.82	1.67	2.14	1.98	2.18	48.18	2.49	3.53	1.42	mild
	น้ำตาล	1.84	6.32	1.70	2.54	3.62	2.78	42.58	2.81	5.22	1.86	mild
	ଅଣ୍ଟ ଅଣ୍ଟ	1.22	5.55	1.48	2.00	2.39	2.30	56.83	2.27	3.91	1.72	moderate - severe
	ເທັງເຈີ້ຍງ	1.46	6.41	1.29	1.83	3.34	2.05	47.92	2.80	5.33	1.90	moderate - severe
	มาร์ค	1.01	3.30	0.86	1.14	1.76	1.43	46.41	2.20	2.46	1.70	moderate
	คาร์ฟู	1.04	4.37	1.01	1.78	2.12	1.62	51.45	1.90	3.04	1.60	mild
	มั่นนี่	0.99	2.99	0.81	1.19	1.66	1.35	44.59	1.93	2.89	1.50	moderate - severe

Appendix H: Echocardiographic indices in the DMVD dogs

Γ

No.	Name	IVSd	LVIDd	LVPWd	IVSs	LVIDs	LVPWs	FS	Ao	ΓA	LA/Ao	MR
17	กาก้า	1.29	8.11	1.34	2.11	3.80	2.57	53.28	0.29	0.56	1.90	moderate - severe
18	กระปุก	1.59	7.37	1.09	1.96	4.96	1.80	32.59	4.09	5.02	1.46	severe
19	น้อยหน่า	1.40	4.04	1.16	2.15	1.80	2.04	55.44	2.31	3.00	1.29	moderate
20	ป๊อปแป๊ป	1.16	5.75	0.87	1.40	3.44	1.80	40.28	2.42	4.04	1.67	severe
21	คิม	1.55	5.49	1.37	2.32	3.03	2.25	45.07	3.10	4.54	1.48	mild
22	น้ำฝน	1.04	4.30	0.85	1.70	2.54	1.57	41.08	2.56	3.11	1.38	mild
23	น้ำเงิน	3.36	5.88	2.72	4.00	3.64	3.96	38.06	3.48	6.02	1.73	moderate
24	มาร์ค	1.17	4.75	1.08	1.69	2.33	2.12	50.84	0.19	0.40	2.00	moderate
25	ାରିହି ଜୁନ	2.48	6.57	2.39	4.26	2.30	3.39	65.22	3.65	4.74	1.30	mild
26	ແກ້ວ	1.97	8.84	1.42	2.74	4.63	2.68	47.53	3.16	5.29	1.67	moderate
27	บะหมี	0.87	4.23	0.99	1.11	2.19	1.77	48.22	1.63	2.96	1.82	moderate - severe
					ล้	222		A 4				

VSd, interventricular septal thickness at end-diastole; LVIDd, left ventricular end-diastolic dimension; LVPWd, left ventricular posterior
vall thickness at end-diastole; IVSs, interventricular septal thickness at end-systole; LVIDs, left ventricular end-systole dimension;
-VPWs, left ventricular posterior wall thickness at end-systole; FS, fractional shortening; Ao, aortic root dimension; LA, left atrium
dimension; LA/Ao, left atrial to aortic root ratio; MR, degree of mitral valve regurgitation

Appendix I: Subgroup	analysis of plasma	Gal-3 concentration	among stage of DMVD
(Median; 25 th and 75 th	percentile)		

Stage	Number	Plasma Gal-3
		concentration (ng/ml)
Normal	19	* 0.420; 0.271-0.630
DMVD stage B2	13	1.378; 0.876-2.409
DMVD stage C	14	1.547; 0.834-2.416

The significant difference was assessed by Mann-Whitney U test.

* indicate statistically significant difference at p < 0.01 between normal and DMVD stage B2 and DMVD stage C.



Figure 17: Boxplot of plasma Gal-3 concentration dividing by stage of DMVD. Median value was represented as line within box. The 25th and 75th percentile value was represented as the limits of box. The outlier value (value that > 1.5 interquartile) were showed as star.

Appendix J: Subgroup	analysis of plasma	Gal-3 concentration	among disease	e severity
(Median; 25 th and 75 th	percentile)			

Disease Severity	Number	Plasma Gal-3
		concentration (ng/ml)
No MR	19	* 0.420; 0.271-0.630
Mild	10	1.487; 0.877-2.220
Moderate - severe	17	1.498; 0.811-2.497

The significant difference was assessed by Mann-Whitney U test.

indicate statistically significant difference at p < 0.01 between no MR and mild and

moderate to severe MR.



Figure 18: Boxplot of plasma Gal-3 concentration dividing by disease severity. Median value was represented as line within box. The 25^{th} and 75^{th} percentile value was represented as the limits of box. The outlier value (value that > 1.5 interquartile) were showed as star.



Appendix K: Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve

Figure 19: Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve dividing by sensitivity and specificity. As seen from the ROC curves, cut-off value was 0.75 ng/ml, when considered sensitivity equal to sensitivity (sensitivity 0.889, specificity 0.842). When considered high sensitivity (sensitivity 0.963, specificity 0.789), cut-off value was 0.65 ng/ml and cut-off value was 0.99 ng/ml, when considered high specificity (sensitivity 0.867, specificity 0.895).

Cut-off value	DMVD (n = 27) ^a	Normal (n = 19) ^b
0.65 ng/ml	26	15
0.75 ng/ml	24	16
0.99 ng/ml	18	17

Table 15: Cut-off value of plasma Gal-3 concentration

^a Indicate number of dogs in DMVD group that had plasma Gal-3 concentration above cut-off value.

^b Indicate number of dogs in normal group that had plasma Gal-3 concentration under cut-off value.

VITA

Miss Siriwan Sakarin was born on December 24, 1987 in Bangkok, Thailand. She finished her high school education from Samsen Wittayalai School, Bangkok, and graduated from Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University, 2006-2012. She received her Bachelor degree of Veterinary Science with 1st class Honors in 2012. After that, she admitted to the degree of Master of Science Program in Veterinary Medicine. Department of Veterinary Medicine, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University in 2012 under Chulalongkorn University Graduate Commemorate the 72nd Anniversary of His Majesty King Bhumibol Adulyadej Scholarship.

จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย Chulalongkorn University